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The Nelson Mandela Museum, located as it is in the 
authentic landscape of Mr Mandela’s early and later life, 
allows a visitor to retrace literally and symbolically the 
footprints of a great man – at “the source” as it were. 
This is the landscape that Mr Mandela documents in his 
autobiography and that is attested by all research and 
social narrative into his life.  

Mr Nelson Mandela was born Rolihlahla Mandela to 
Chief Henry Gadla Mpakanyiswa and Mampemvu 
Nosekeni Fani in Mvezo.  Most of his childhood was 
spent in Qunu and Mqekezweni.  He was given the name 
Nelson by Miss Mdingane when he started school in 
Qunu, next to where now the Nelson Mandela Museum’s 
Qunu node offering purpose built youth and conferencing 
facilities stands.  Many authentic sites with a good degree 
of physical integrity are part of the museum’s sites or in 
its immediate vicinity.  His most extensive documented 
childhood memories are undoubtedly those gained 
at Mqekezweni under the tutelage of the Regent in 
accordance with his late father’s wishes.  Mqekezweni 
remains one of the Tembu Great Places, is not a museum 
bus is accessible to visitors by prior arrangement. 

The most significant dates of the 2009 – 2010 financial 
year for the Nelson Mandela Museum was the 11th of 
February and the first South African Mandela day.  The 
world cup and the first global Mandela Day are both 
in the following financial year.  The 11th of February 
2010 marked 10 years since Mr Nelson Mandela, Dr 
Ben Ngubane – then Minister of Arts, Culture Science and 
Technology in the presence of various local and traditional 
leaders opened the museum’s doors to the public.  Many 
of these leaders and some stakeholders had been 
involved in the negotiations and intricacies of establishing 
a new museum, identifying sites for it, and dealing with 
associated regulatory matters.  This galaxy of leaders and 
stakeholders undertook sod turning ceremonies in Mvezo 
and Qunu, and launched two exhibitions in the Bhunga 
Building. The same date marked the 20th year of Mr 
Nelson Mandela’s release from prison.  2009-2010 was 
a year well marked with activities and programmes that 
support the mission and priorities of the museum as set by 
Council. The year saw completely new exhibitions being 
introduced into the museum, unprecedented renewal of 
the facilities and offerings, the museum reaching new 

audiences in major metropolitan areas and remote 
rural areas (including the Houses of Parliament, former 
Victor Verster Prison, Ratlou Municipality, Grahamstown, 
Bergen Belsen Concentration Camp, Limpopo province, 
and other areas). 

The Nelson Mandela Museum was established in terms 
of the Cultural Institutions Act as a national museum to 
preserve and interpret tangible and intangible heritage 
resources linked to Mr Nelson Mandela – especially 
the numerous gifts and awards he received during his 
time in the service of humanity and sites associated with 
the authentic landscape of his childhood, to inspire, 
educate and catalyse development opportunities for 
South Africans and humanity with the story of the life and 
work of Mr Nelson Mandela in context, whilst fostering 
social cohesion, national unity and reconciliation.  .  
Accompanied by diverse local elected and traditional 
leaders who had been involved with the intricacies of 
deciding on a museum, selecting sites, negotiating their 
availability and related regulatory matters they conducted 
sod turnings at two historical sites of profound heritage 
significance, the birth place of Mr Mandela – Mvezo, 
and Qunu in the vicinity where Mr Mandela was a young 
herdsman, started attending school and got the name 
Nelson, and in the Bhunga Building where representatives 
of Africans have discussed matters affecting Africans in 
the Transkei Territories General Council.  

The approved strategic plan and annual performance 
plan issued a clarion call to “appropriately observe/
mark the museum’s 10th anniversary” and “increase the 
museum’s footprint.” 

The response to this clarion call has been overwhelming,  
This saw the museum featuring exhibitions in far areas 
that it has never exhibited in or been heard in before.  The 
museum featured an exhibition at what was previously 
called Victor Verster Prison in Drakenstein on the very 
day of commemorating the 20th anniversary of his 
release and the 10th anniversary of the museum.  The 
museum completed installation of the first version of the 
now very popular Mandela Luthuli Exhibition inside the 
Bhunga Building.  The museum featured an exhibition in 
Parliament. 

The Museum Story
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The museum in this period achieved what for it was 
unprecedented media coverage virtually all of it positive or 
neutral, triggered by among others the international youth 
camp with Bergen Belsen Concentration Camp, Opening 
of the Nelson Mandela – Leader, Patriot Exhibition in 
October 2009, the Museum’s 10th anniversary and 20th 
anniversary of Mr Mandela’s release. 

The museum’s tenth year saw in line with Council decisions 
the unleashing of renewed offerings and new platforms, 
products and programmes for engaging targeted 
sections of the South African audience. This included 
new exhibitions, a new board game, robust outreach 
campaign, and an international camp. 

The Nelson Mandela Museum located as it is in the 
landscape that is not only home to Mr Mandela, but a 
landscape that he loves best, that reveals the story and 
the journey in footprints that are embedded with the 
values of: ubuntu, integrity, inspiration, listening, learning, 
development and service.  If executed well the work of 
the museum will inspire present and future generations to 
stay in touch with their past, to act according to informed 
consciences everyday and to pilgrim.  

The Nelson Mandela Museum beckons all to savour 
memorable experiences in the landscape that is and was 
Mr Mandela’s first home.
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IIn terms of the Public Finance Manangement Act, we are 
pleased to submit this annual report for the period 2009-
2010 on behalf of the Council that was led by Professor 
Asmal until September 2009 at expiry of the three year 
term, and Mr Ben Martins until 31 March 2010 at expiry 
of the extended term.  In a way this report features a 
culmination of a three year turn-around plan presided 
over by this council. 

The museum council strategically decided to highlight the 
following priorities for the 2009 – 2010 financial year:
1. Improving governance and securing unqualified 

audits 
2. Renewing the museum’s offerings and facilities
3. Strengthening the organization and mobilizing 

resources
4. Addressing the museum’s public reach and profile, 

and appropriately mark the museum’s 10th 
anniversary, Mr Mandela’s 20th anniversary and 
leverage and contribute to the World Cup efforts 
appropriately. 

The Museum presented a fitting public marking of the tenth 
anniversary and reached diverse audiences beyond its 
immediate hinterland.  In line with renewing the museum’s 
offerings new exhibitions focusing on Mr Mandela have 
been developed and installed, a reference library was 
established.  Phase 1 of the museum buildings renewal 
and physical infrastructure is complete, resources have 
been mobilized that have allowed phase 2 to be in 
advanced planning stages. The museum’s public outreach 
in the year under review was completely unprecedented 
reaching major urban, peri urban and some rural areas 
and very diverse audiences. 

The museum has shown an emphasis on working with 
young people and working in partnerships in full alignment 
with the emphasis found in the government programme of 
action. 

Evidence of the continued improvement in governance is 
the receipt of another unqualified audit from the auditor 
general.  While this unqualified audit report is very 
important, we cannot disregard the emphasis of matter 
by the Auditor General.  We have reviewed the causes 

and concurred with the corrective steps taken.   We are 
keenly aware that an institution of this significance and 
handling such an important legacy should obtain reports 
that end with a favourable auditor’s opinion paragraph. 
We continue to strive for this and it looks within reach 
if one considers the journey from the number of audit 
queries received three or four years ago. 

Summary reports for each of the museum’s programming 
areas contextualize the performance information table 
are included in this annual report. 

The continued non-resolution of the Museum’s capitalization 
and baseline funding compromises many elements of the 
museum’s work.  The museum is keenly anticipating the 
processes that the Minister of Arts and Culture is putting in 
place to address the matter of Mvezo which had remained 
unresolved at financial year end.  

In the three years and six months that the Council led the 
institution, a strong foundation has been laid for future 
renewal initiatives. The timely appointment of a new well 
capacitated, adequately inducted, diverse, council of 
independent non-executive directors will strengthen the 
work that has been done.  Optimal capitalization will 
assist the new council fulfill its role more decisively. 

The Council’s contributions in ensuring that the museum 
continues the improvements towards becoming a fitting 
bearer of Mr Nelson Mandela’s name, becomes an 
exemplary, professional, caring and inspirational learning 
organization are appreciated.  The commitment to ensure 
that the museum remains and becomes more a centre for 
community and national cultural life remains.  

Khwezi kaMpumlwana
On Behalf of Council.

Accounting Authority’s Report
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The museum’s 10th year was momentous, memorable 
and a year of growth and positive strategic shifts.  

2009 -2010 saw evident strengthening of governance as seen 
in the quality of internal audit observations, in the workings of 
the audit committee, in the policy generation process, there 
was more consistent pursuit and meeting of objectives as 
seen in the attached annual performance report, there was 
an improved and formally approved system of performance 
management, new offerings were taken to diverse corners 
of the country and the world with overwhelming audience 
feedback and immediate response. 

All the decisive leadership of council, hard work of 
management and staff, and commitment to good 
governance by all, earned the museum another 
unqualified audit.  Management accepts that regardless 
of the explanation and the corrective measures taken 
the important thing is that a clean audit opinion with no 
emphasis of matter should be a target.   

The accompanying performance report shows progress in 
the achievement of the targets that were set. 

Some of the major highlights include: 
• Addressing of prior year audit issues
• Visible physical strengthening of security measures
• Renewal of museum offerings like: new exhibitions, 

international youth camp; better and wider outreach; 
new books produced. 

• Strengthening of services at Qunu and maintaining the 
three star grading, 

Some of the setbacks include:
• The delayed improvement of the Institutional 

Capitalisation 
• The glitches in implementing the supply chain 

management policy  
• The delayed implementation of the capacity upgrade 

including Human Resources

Any objective and subjective review of the 
museum’s plans and achievements over this 
first decade not just the year ended will show 
an overall positive balance in:
• Strengthened partnerships and collaborations, 

domestic and international  
• increased tour operators packaging Mthatha, 

The CEO’s Report

• a new National but Rural Institution of significance, 
• an increase in the tourism market and supporting 

infrastructure, 
• an increased interest in heritage matters, 
• access to cultural resources, 
• new cultural heritage organizations formed and artists 

profiled 
• new heritage infrastructure in place, 
• new career opportunities for young people, 
• increased procurement spend, 
• new public perception of and focus on the region in 

which the museum is located,
• increased diversity of audience numbers, beyond just 

visitors. 

There are a number of other players affecting each of these 
variables, but the museum’s tangible link with each can be 
appropriately demonstrated and is worth reflecting on.

In the period under review the cleaning tender allocated 
the preceding year, has had to be re-determined due to 
Service Level Agreement compliance issues. 

We acknowledge the role of our Government, Minister, 
Council, Staff, Donors, stakeholders including past 
councilors, in believing in and supporting the journey 
of the museum in this first decade, for their commitment, 
effort and varying degrees of intensity to get the museum 
to the place it must get to.   Developing and Managing 
a national institution dedicated to honouring, celebrating 
and managing the heritage resources of the life and work 
of Mr Mandela to catalyse learning, inspiration and 
development is a responsibility we take very seriously, 
and a special honour to all who are allowed the privilege 
to serve around it.

In addition to the audited performance report, we have 
attached hereto a summary of each of the programmes 
that we use to implement the Council approved 
strategic priorities and align with national expectations 
as summarized in the state of the nation address the 
government programme of action. 

Khwezi kaMpumlwana
Chief Executive Officer 
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Programme 01: Governance

This programme is responsible for overall institutional co-
ordination, accountability, planning, policy development, 
monitoring and risk management. The main entities 
involved in this programme are Council, Office of the 
CEO, and the Corporate Services Function. 

The broad objectives of this programme 
include:

• Ensuring strategy, policy, oversight and 
accountability 

• Ensuring organisational sustainability and 
accountability 

• Co-ordination of the institutional functioning 
• Providing adequate support to council and 

ensuring implementation of council strategic and 
policy directions

• Rendering a corporate services function in all 
respects 

In the period under review the following were 
the major focus points of the programme:

• Strengthening governance, and sustaining the 
achievement of a further unqualified audit, 

• Addressing issues raised by the Auditor General 
• Strengthening organisational capacity and 

positioning – including clarifying the performance 
frameworks

• Strengthening the policy environment and 
compliance aspects

• Timely alerting of the department to the expiry of 
the Council Term 

In line with these priorities the following 
progress was achieved:

• Another unqualified audit was obtained from 
the auditor general, as planned for the financial 
year, 

• Full implementation of the asset management 
system in compliance with the relevant GRAP 17 

• The new supply management policy was 
implemented, but we must emphasise there were 
some glitches owing to capacity issues, timing 
of appointments,  uneven understandings of the 
application, some of this resulted in irregular 
expenditure, which we view seriously and have 
taken steps to address,  

• With regard to the amount classified and 
disclosed as irregular expenditure, supply chain 
management policy provisions were followed in 
getting three quotations for transactions between 
30 000 and 500 000, totalling R4 198 511, but 
the required 80:20 point system was not followed. 
The businesses chosen were predominantly black 
owned and mostly locally based, except for 
generally very specialised services.   The 80:20 
system has since been introduced.  

• The other amount classified and disclosed as 
irregular expenditure totalling R4 467 319 relates 
to monies paid over to the local travel agent for 
conference, travel, accommodation, air tickets, 
car rental, shuttles for which no tender process 
had been followed as the museum believed that 
the actually paid to the agent is below the tender 
threshold, the rest is paid to diverse suppliers 
like the airlines, shuttles, car hire companies, 
accommodations and conference venues.  

• Instances of late supplier payment reflected in the 
audit report, occurred before the previous year’s 
issuance of the annual financial statements and 
the introduction of a system to prevent this,   

• The planning system followed was to first plan 
for everything and the required full amounts, 
then after that downscale the plans according 
to the confirmed budget, in the library project 
a misalignment between the reduced amount 
and the original amount arose, resulting in an 
observation by the AG to this extent.   
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Schedule of  NMM Council Meeting Attendance 2009-2010

Full Council Meetings

Name of Councilor 23rd May 2009 1st August 
2009

19th September 
2009

23rd January 
2010

23rd March 
2010

Prof Kader Asmal 
(chairperson)

In attendance In attendance In attendance Absent Absent

Mr Benedict Martins Apology Tendered In attendance In attendance In attendance Apology Tendered

Prof Cornelius Thomas In attendance In attendance In attendance In attendance In attendance

Mr Wanda Sowazi In attendance In attendance In attendance Absent Absent 

Mr Luvuyo Dondolo In attendance In attendance In attendance In attendance Apology Ten.

Ms Zanele Hlatshwayo In attendance In attendance In attendance Apology Tendered In attendance

Adv. Loyiso Mpumlwana In attendance In attendance In attendance In attendance In attendance

Mr Elliot Chonco In attendance In attendance In attendance In attendance Apology Tendered

Prof Crain Soudien Apology Tendered In attendance Apology Tendered Apology Tendered Apology Tendered

Mr Victor Netshiavha Apology Tendered In attendance In attendance In attendance Apology Tendered
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Programme 02: Human Resources

The purpose of this Programme is to ensure that the museum has the benefit of professional support in its human capital 
management services.   This programme helps the museum achieve its objectives, meet expectations of its stakeholders 
through: recruitment, retention, systematic deployment, performance management, sound industrial relations, training 
and development in the Museum. The museum is a very knowledge dependent organisation and as such Human 
Capacity is key in ensuring museum project success. 

The following are the major highlights of the HR Department for the previous financial year:
• Training & Development
• Recruitment and selection
• Policy development and reviews
• Organisational development and Job Evaluation Framework
• Resignations and Terminations
• HR Alignment
• Labour Relations Matters
• Performance Management System 
• Employment Equity
• Leave schedule

TRAININg & dEvElOPMENT
Good progress has been made in the training and development of people, and the museum’s Annual Training Report 
and Workplace Skills Plans were submitted to the relevant SETA (THETA) within the prescribed deadline.  The museum 
submitted a proposal for a discretionary training grant from the THETA to assist the museum in appointing Interns, 
Research Assistants and Learnership Participants. This matter is awaiting the decision of the THETA. 

RECRUITMENT & SElECTION
The organisation has advertised four positions in the year under review as follows:

• Admin Officer ,
• Financial Controller 
• Five Interns
• Executive Assistant

All the above positions were filled as planned, except the Financial Controller which was the subject of much delay 
pending verification of the Finance Department’s HR constraints, resulting in delays on some of the functions that were 
earmarked for this role. 

Positions were filled as follows:

Department Position Incumbent Date started

Finance Financial Controller T.Mkhohliwe Nov 2009

Finance Admin Officer S.Makhutha Jan 2010

CEO ‘s office Executive Assistant Z. Nompetsheni Sept 2009

Internship programme:

Department Position Incumbent Date Started

Marketing Tour Guiding Intern U. Songca Dec 2009



N e l s o n  M a n d e l a  N a t i o n a l  M u s e u m  A n n u a l  R e p o r t   2 0 1 0 �

Marketing Tour Guiding Intern N. Ncapai Dec 2009

Marketing Tour Guiding Intern Z.Gamakhulu Dec 2009

Programs Library Intern Z.Nelani Feb 2010

IT IT Intern A. Cokie Jan 2010- resigned

Programs Researcher Isabel Gwaze Feb 2010

Programs Researcher S.Mthsemla March 2010
 
ORgANISATIONAl dEvElOPMENT
The organisation has augmented the challenge of capacity in areas like the Tour Guiding with the intake of Interns, who 
learn valuable skills and contribute immensely albeit they are appointed for a short time.
Staff members are all placed under Departments according to their expertise and field of studies with a close mentorship 
of the Head of Departments, eg Marketing, Programs and Qunu Heritage Centre.
Reporting lines has been addressed in order to monitor the performance and personnel development areas. There is 
challenge in filling of the vacant positions in the Organ gram due to budget constraints and it creating capacity gap 
and is causing multi- tasking in certain areas.  

RESIgNATIONS ANd TERMINATIONS 
In the year under review two resignation were received from the Admin Officer Finance and Executive Assistant to the 
CEO, to pursue better pay, better opportunities and personal growth.  Their last dates were the 30th October 2009 and 
30th April 2009 respectively.
An IT Intern also resigned to pursue future interest elsewhere.  
Tours Co-ordinator and Qunu Centre Manager subsequently resigned post financial year end for financial reasons, 
and better living opportunities.   While the resignations are manageable, they have started to be a cause for concern, 
especially in the light of media reports that the Eastern Cape is losing skilled personnel to other provinces.  A job 
evaluation system was developed and used in the year under review – it revealed the need to make significant systemic 
adjustment to the museum’s pay system. This may be one of the factors that will stem the emerging trend if the budget 
becomes available.  No involuntary terminations occurred in the period under review. 

JOB EvAlUATION ANd AllIgNMENT:
When the museum was first established with 8 tour guides, one supervisor, one secretary and one CEO it initially 
developed an internal salary guideline system and had a lot of multi-tasking where people performed different 
functions.  With the growth in the museum, filling of more specialised positions, improved definitions of people’s 
roles, salary benchmarking system, DAC Human Resources Analysis, debates around a single public service and a 
trend of resignations by young qualified practitioners – NMM Council approved a process to identify and develop a 
Job Evaluation system that would take into account public sector and industry norms, be appropriate to the museum’s 
mandate, context, type and size.
The museum engaged an external service provider to develop the Job Evaluation System who assessed two systems 
(Equate and Patterson Grading Systems).  Special Council after considering the relevant input approved the introduction 
of the Patterson Grading system to the museum and specifically determined that Equate would not serve the purposes 
of the Museum.
The new grading system showed significant differences between where jobs are and should be.  The implementation 
has been approved subject to the availability of budget and operational requirements.  
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lABOUR RElATIONS MATTERS
There has been stable labour relations environment in the museum to date.  There is one union and one cartaker 
shopsteward. 

DISCIPLINARY CASES Nil
CCMA   Nil
GRIEVANCES  1 x formal     - resolved
   1x informal   - resolved

Monthly staff meetings are held on monthly basis and the Agenda comes from employees and management. The 
management meetings are taking place every second week. These meetings assist the Institution in performance 
monitoring and as a 360 degree feedback.  

PERFORMANCE MANAgEMENT SYSTEM
In the period under review Council approved a new performance management policy and system, resulting in a 
standardised format for performance plans of departments and individual managers and a framework for the evaluation 
and monitoring thereof.  Each manager has a performance agreement with clear Key Performance Areas linked to the 
Strategy. Performance discussions are done in Management Meetings on quarterly basis with the CEO and Heads of 
Departments do the same with their direct reportees.  The new system was approved after the financial year had started 
but was based on the strategy that had been completed earlier.  It is a substantial improvement on the previous systems 
used in the museum. 
Performance assessments past, present and future have to then be done in terms of the new policy.  
Some of the challenges in the implementation of the policy seem to show that whereas the incentives where applicable 
are budgeted in the specific planning year, their payment is only do-able after audit, which presents a financial treatment 
problem, which results in this allocation needing to be put in reserves until it is retrieved after exact determination based 
on overall performance and audit outcome whether any incentives are due and to what extent. 

HUMAN RESOURCES POlICY REvIEW
The museum continues to seek to implement a dynamic policy management system, assisted by the work of the internal 
audit.  The following identified HR policies have been approved by council:
* Sexual Harassment Policy
* Internship Policy
* Job Evaluation Policy
* Overtime Policy
* Performance Management Policy
* Information Technology Policy
All other HR policies matrix has been sent to the council in March 2010 for review or noting as follows:

> Leave Policy – reviewed in May 2009. 
> Grievance and Disciplinary Procedure – noted
> Code of Good Conduct – noted
> Employee Study Aid – noted
> Cell phone policy – noted
> Recruitment and Selection policy - noted
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ANAlYSIS OF dEMOgRAPHICS OF THE INSTITUTION

Categories a/male a/female c/male c/female w/male w/female total

1.CEO 1 1

2.CFO 1 1

3.HRM 1 1

4.Security Specialist 1 1

5. Executive Assistant to CEO. 1 1

6.Snr Manager Programs 1 1

7.Snr Manager Marketing 1 1

8.Accountant 1 1

9.Education material 
development manager 1 1

10.Heritage Centre Manager 1 1

11.Heritage tours co-ordinator 1 1

12.Finance Secretary 1 1

13. Adim Officer 1 1

14.Admin Officer –Qunu 1 1

15.Community Liaison Officer 1 1

16. Heritage Conservator 1 1

17. Communication and Media 
Officer 1 1

18. Design, Graphics and 
Website Officer 1 1

19.Caretaker 1 1

20.Genaral Assistant 1 1

21. Education Outreach Officer 1 1

22.Financial Controller 1 1

Total 11 11 22
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Staff Leave Arrangements

Post 

N0 of 
vacation 
leaves 
accrued 

N0. days 
vacation 
leave 
taken 

days 
Forfeited

Closing 
Balance

N0. days 
Sick leave 
Accrued

N0. days Sick
 leave Taken

Closing 
Balance

No days 
Special leave 
Accrued

N0 days 
Special leaves 
Taken 

No. days 
Maternity 
leave Accrued

N0 days 
Maternity 
leave Taken 

N0 days
Absenteeism

CEO 121.5 80 19.5 22 36 3 33 5 5 nil nil nil

Secretary 66 40 10 16 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Executive Assistant to CEO 70.8 45 14.8 11 24 7   17 10 nil nil nil nil

Marketing Manager 126 49 69 8 12 nil 12 5 4 nil nil nil

Manager L/Route 33 33 nil nil 3 nil 3 5 nil nil nil nil

Human Resource Manager 42 20 7 15 12 2 10 5 1 nil nil nil

Security, Facilities and 
Logistics 39 24 nil 15 12 nil 12 5 4 nil nil nil

Education Material Dev. 
Manager 152 74 56 22 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Education Materials 
Development Officer 22 16 nil 6 12 4 8 5 5 nil nil nil

Programmes  Senior 
Manager 80 44 7 29 12 nil 12 5 5 nil nil nil

CFO 68 38 nil 30 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Accountant 70 33 4 33 24 4 20 5 nil nil nil nil

Financial Controller 12 2 nil 10 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Administration Officer 37 31 nil 6 34 19 15 10 nil nil nil nil

Heritage Conservation 
Officer 109 31 68 10 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Community Liaison Officer 79 56 11 12 12 10 2 5 3 nil nil nil

Graphic Design and 
Website Officer 73 31 21 21 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Communications and Media 
Officer 92 57 20 15 12 2 10 5 nil nil nil nil

Qunu Centre Manager 75 33 11 31 27 nil 27 5 nil nil nil nil

Qunu Caretaker and 
Handyman 55 38 10 7 32 nil 32 5 nil nil nil nil

Centre Administration 
Officer 33 25 nil 8 15 15 nil 5 nil nil nil nil

Centre Tours Co-
ordination Officer

33 29 nil 4 16 nil 16 5 nil 88 88 nil

General Assistant 196 44 150 2 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Total 1684.3 873 478.3 333 379 66 313 125 27 88 88 nil
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Staff Leave Arrangements

Post 

N0 of 
vacation 
leaves 
accrued 

N0. days 
vacation 
leave 
taken 

days 
Forfeited

Closing 
Balance

N0. days 
Sick leave 
Accrued

N0. days Sick
 leave Taken

Closing 
Balance

No days 
Special leave 
Accrued

N0 days 
Special leaves 
Taken 

No. days 
Maternity 
leave Accrued

N0 days 
Maternity 
leave Taken 

N0 days
Absenteeism

CEO 121.5 80 19.5 22 36 3 33 5 5 nil nil nil

Secretary 66 40 10 16 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Executive Assistant to CEO 70.8 45 14.8 11 24 7   17 10 nil nil nil nil

Marketing Manager 126 49 69 8 12 nil 12 5 4 nil nil nil

Manager L/Route 33 33 nil nil 3 nil 3 5 nil nil nil nil

Human Resource Manager 42 20 7 15 12 2 10 5 1 nil nil nil

Security, Facilities and 
Logistics 39 24 nil 15 12 nil 12 5 4 nil nil nil

Education Material Dev. 
Manager 152 74 56 22 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Education Materials 
Development Officer 22 16 nil 6 12 4 8 5 5 nil nil nil

Programmes  Senior 
Manager 80 44 7 29 12 nil 12 5 5 nil nil nil

CFO 68 38 nil 30 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Accountant 70 33 4 33 24 4 20 5 nil nil nil nil

Financial Controller 12 2 nil 10 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Administration Officer 37 31 nil 6 34 19 15 10 nil nil nil nil

Heritage Conservation 
Officer 109 31 68 10 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Community Liaison Officer 79 56 11 12 12 10 2 5 3 nil nil nil

Graphic Design and 
Website Officer 73 31 21 21 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Communications and Media 
Officer 92 57 20 15 12 2 10 5 nil nil nil nil

Qunu Centre Manager 75 33 11 31 27 nil 27 5 nil nil nil nil

Qunu Caretaker and 
Handyman 55 38 10 7 32 nil 32 5 nil nil nil nil

Centre Administration 
Officer 33 25 nil 8 15 15 nil 5 nil nil nil nil

Centre Tours Co-
ordination Officer

33 29 nil 4 16 nil 16 5 nil 88 88 nil

General Assistant 196 44 150 2 12 nil 12 5 nil nil nil nil

Total 1684.3 873 478.3 333 379 66 313 125 27 88 88 nil
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Staff development Expenditure Schedule

Position No. trained Course details Cost of training

Finance Admin Officer 1 Advanced Electronic Record Management 10 655.30

Finance Admin Officer, Caretaker 
and Liaison Officer 3 SHE Representative Training 3 040.24

Qunu Center Manager, SFL 
Manager, Fin Admin Officer, 
Caretaker and Liaison Officer

5 Basic SHE Repr workshop, SHE principles 
and SAMTRAC workshop

56 038.00

Liaison Officer 1 PDP 354.00

Fin Admin Officer 1 Preliminary Investigative Training 2 000.00

Fin Admin Officer 1 Bachelor’s Degree in Public Administration 9 116.00

Accountant 1 MBA –Finance Management 19 200.00

Executive Assistant 1 Performance Management workshop 1 671.50

Communication Officer 1 Public Relations Management 2 600.00

Finance Secretary and HR 
Manager 2 Leave and payroll seminar 9 150.23

Communication Officer 1 Public Relations Management 4 510.00

Graphic Design Officer 1 BA- Information  Systems 3 072.00

CEO 1 Financial Management 9 121.30

Finance Secretary 1 Payroll Tax Year end seminar 997.50

Management 10 Project Management 58 900.00

Interns, Tours Coordinator, 
Educational Officer, Caretaker 
and Admin Officer

7 Tour Guiding workshop
50 400.00

Museum Managers 10 Project Management 7 423.80

Snr Programs Manager and 
Programs Manager 2 Financial management for non financial 

managers workshop
33 411.88

Staff Emotional Management workshop 12 250.00

SFL Manager, Caretaker and 
Liaison Officer 3 Preliminary investigative and Audit 

workshop
18 560.24

SFL Manager 1 Security Management workshop 9 500.00

General Assistant 1 Defensive driving training 2 675.30

Ithemba Project Participants 9 Basic Computer Training 15 210.00

Total 339 855.39
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Schedule of Human Resource Expenditure to the Museum 
description Amount 
Salaries 4 349586
Staff Benefits 303 802
Recruitment 251 938
Other Expenses 12 802  
Total 4 918 128

Organizational Structure of the Museum

details of Post Number of approved 
posts on Structure

Salary 
Band

Posts 
Filled

Posts 
vacant

Chief Executive Officer 1 E3 1 0
Chief Operating Officer 1 D4 0 1
Secretary 2 B2 1 1
Executive Assistant  to CEO 1 C2 1 0
Senior Manager Programs 1 D4 1 0
Executive Manager Corporate Services 1 D4 1 0
Senior Manager Marketing  1 D4 1 0
Senior Manager Enterprise 1 D4 0 1
Enterprise Contract Officer 1 C2 0 1
Research Project Manager 1 D3 0 1
Information Technology Manager 1 D3 0 1
Library Project Manager 1 D3 0 1
Security Manager 1 D3 1 0
Security and Logistics Officer 1 C2 0 1
Accountant 1 D3 1 0
Financial Controller 1 D2 1 0
Procurement Officer 1 C2 0 1
Administration Officer 2 C2 2 0
Human Resource Manager 1 D4 1 0
Human Resource Practitioner 1 C2 0 1
Education Material Development Manager 1 D3 1 0
Education Material Development Officer 1 C3 1 0
Heritage Centre Manager 1 D3 1 0
Caretaker and Handyman 1 B2 1 0
Communication and Outreach Officer 1 C2 1 0
Production and Branding Officer 1 C2 1 0
Graphic Design and Webmaster Officer 1 C3 0 1
Information Officer 1 C2 0 1
Research and Publications Officer 1 C2 0 1
Library Assistant 1 C2 0 1
Network Controller 1 C2 0 1
Heritage Community Liaison Officer 1 C2 1 0
Curator 1 D3 0 1
Collections Officer 1 C3 0 1
Conservator 1 C2 1 0
Centre Tours Co-ordinator 1 C3 1 0
Assistant Admin. Officer 2 A1 0 2
Administration Clerk 1 A1 0 1
General Assistant 1 A1 1 0
Total 42 22 20
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Programme 03: Marketing Programme Report

The purpose of this programme is to support internal 
and external communication needs of the museum, to 
ensure that the wider public is aware of the museum and 
its offerings, to ensure diverse access and growth of the 
museum’s audiences and visitors, ensure accessibility, 
favourable public profiling of the museum, interface with 
the tourism industry and stakeholders, communicate the 
museum’s stand point, increase the museum’s tourism 
market share. 

This programme delivers its work through channels 
like: the website, print and electronic media (news; 
features; opinions; and advertising), social media, expo 
participation, direct communications, promotional material 
and travelling exhibitions.   In line with the museum’ s 
emphasis on partnerships this puts a great emphasis on 
working in partnerships. 

Some of the highlights in the period under review 
included:

• Activation of Nelson Mandela Photo 
Exhibition in Parliament of the Republic of 
South Africa and at the former Victor Vester 
prison. 

• Successful Indaba Expo participation 
• Increase in the number of tour operators 

packaging the museum, 
• More diversity in visitor profile, even though 

the effect of closure to install an exhibition 
during September 2009 was negative for the 
overall visitor numbers, initially,

• Unprecedented media coverage and  media 
visits ahead of the world cup, 

The Museum saw further growth in its Tourism Market 
share during 2009/2010. The launch of the Renewal 
Strategy in the fiscal year presented various opportunities. 
It was a confidence booster for various institutions to form 
partnerships with the museum.  Among the many exciting 
initiatives in Fiscal Year 2009/2010 was the launch of 
Mandela portrait exhibition as an outreach project in 
two venues in the Western Cape, as a direct result of 
partnerships and therefore creating an opportunity to 
penetrate wider audiences, the donation of a travelling 
exhibition by the Nelson Mandela Foundation currently 
housed at the Dias Museum in Mossel Bay also multiplied 

the Nelson Mandela Museum exposure. The museum 
aggressive marketing tactics to further the Nelson Mandela 
value based programming were a great success.
 
Because of its geographical location, over the past Years, 
the museum has been confronted by greater challenges, 
it was a victim of negative perceptions affective the entire 
former Transkei due to poor infrastructure development 
such as  roads, however despite these obstacles, its 
overwhelming messaging, visibility in national and 
international shows, its complete brand facelift;  new 
multimedia exhibitions, branding, all which profiled 
the museum and positioned further in the world tourism 
market. This has been evident by the rapid demand for 
packaging the museum by tour operators around the 
globe and learners around the country, not only as an 
excursion stopover but for school research projects. 

The marketing department of Nelson Mandela Museum 
continued delivering compelling messaging, acting as a 
public voice for the museum, communicating with different 
audiences, including journalist from across the globe, 
representing various networks, from radio, television and 
print media never experienced before. To a large degree 
it is through its media friendly approach that the museum 
is fully known as it reached out to more than 14 million 
people around the globe through broadcast news and 
television programmes in different countries.

The public’s enthusiasm and loyalty to Nelson Mandela, 
inspired by his values and principles embodied in all 
museum programmes, and his humble beginnings were 
an added advantage. A number of highly significant 
initiatives such as the development of the Mandela 
Heritage Trail with a potential to sell the museum to an 
even greater level will position the museum as a leading 
premier attraction in South Africa

2. Travel Trends
Domestic travel trends
Gauteng had the highest volume, followed by KZN, the 
Western Cape and lastly the Eastern Cape (this refers to 
other parts of the Eastern Cape that do not fall under 
Local).  They are few registered visitors coming from other 
provinces of South Africa. 
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International travel trends
Currently The United Kingdom is the largest single source 
of visitors visiting the museum, closely followed by 
Germany and United States of America. Other top source 
countries visiting the museum include Holland, Australia, 
Netherlands, Italy and Canada.  China and other African 
States also feature regularly.

Visitor profile
Qunu
Approximately 10 000 visitors come to Qunu per year; 
60 % are overnight to long stays, and 40% are day 
trips. In 2009 most visitors came from England, however 
international visitors represented more than 20 countries. 
Currently village tour packages following Nelson 
Mandela’s foot prints are below 40% and are slightly 
increasing.  Media accounts for 20% of the total visitors 
in Qunu as it is proving very popular.   The site with its 
picnicking facility and vast space for light to heavy vehicle 
packing is popular to adventure groups for picnicking. 
People get a taste of how Nelson Mandela grew up, and 
experience his community and the fundamentally cultural 
foundation that shaped up his life. They participate in 
cultural practices sometimes they become more involved 
wanting to see how traditional craft is made as well as 
its significance. Ithemba craft project, a community based 
project housed at the museum in Qunu and facilitated by 
the museum responds to such needs.

The museum statistics indicate that out of 10 000 
Qunu component visitors 60 percent were leisure and 
40 percent  were business travelers mainly attending 
conferences at the museum site.  Qunu boasts three star 

graded accommodation, a fully equipped conference 
centre, great parking space and unbelievably good views.  
This comination of enablers have ensured the continued 
growth in conference users for this museum site. 

The growth in tourism presents an opportunity for other 
developments, which if done sustainably and sensitively 
could enhance the regional experience or could take 
away from integrity and authenticity.  The preparation 
of the Nelson Mandela Heritage Trail and the emphasis 
of all sites of importance from Mr Mandela’s childhood 
present a strategic competitive edge for the region and 
the museum.

Bhunga Building
This historically significant building houses the diverse 
collections of Mr Mandela’s gifts and two exhibitions 
(Mandela: Leader and Mandela Luthuli).  
Resulting from a combination of all the marketing tools 
and channels available to us and a central location, this 
site has come to be the main museum attraction.   The 
Bhunga building is itself a historic building, it is located 
on the N2 which links Durban and Port Elizabeth. It is 
in proximity to well marketed major holiday resorts and 
adventure hot spots such Coffee Bay, Hole-in-the-Wall and 
Port St John’s, and its 10 years of operation compared to 
the three year old full operation Qunu site.

3. graphical presentation of visitor trends:
3.1. Statistics Analysis
Learners account for the majority of our visitors, followed 
by domestic adults and followed by international visitors.  
The international and domestic visitor trend have generally 
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shown a growth quarter on quarter.  The highest visitor 
numbers are generally during the September holidays. 

The year under review saw greater diversity in visitor 
profile and a total net increase in people reached by 
the museum’s exhibition through its outreach work eg in 
Cape Town, Drakenstein, Bhisho, Port Elizabeth, Mossel 
bay, Grahamstown, and Ratlou Municipality.   There was 
however a decline in numbers that physically came to the 
museum for the entire year from 49 000 the preceding 
year to 39 000 the current year partly owing to the period 
when the museum was closed to install new exhibitions, 
and to the challenges presented by the parking situation 
since the building of the new shopping centre close to the 
museum.  

4. visitor satisfaction
Visitor comments and suggestions indicate a high level of 
satisfaction except in the following areas:

• Parking was difficult to get
• The people extend their salute to Madiba 

for enduring all that he did for the benefit of 
everyone and worry whether future generations 
will understand his importance enough, 

• The people see the exhibits of the museum as well 
researched and nicely presented, very impressive 
and extremely educational but are worried about 
the colour coding, 

4.1.1. Visitor experience with respect to tourist guiding.
Low level of tourist guiding in Qunu for the village tour 
package due to shortage of personnel for non-booked 
tours.  This deprives the institution an opportunity for 
feedback and a shared learning experience.

4.1.2. Facilities
• Visitor parking
• Dining
• Picknicking

5. Key achievements, Media and 
communication services

The Marketing and Communications Department continued 
to refine its operations over the past year as new staffers 
were fully integrated into the organization

• The marketing department promoted corporate 
goals and achievements to internal and 
external audiences and provided strategic 
support for other departmental initiatives 
such as establishment of the library

• Facilitated improvement of internal 
communication, 

• The marketing dept played a key liaison role 
between the media and stakeholders during 
Nelson Mandela’s 91st birthday celebrations 
whereby the museum gave messaging 
technical support for press releases and 
promotional material to stakeholders, and 
handled stakeholder enquiries related to the 
67 minute public service initiative. 

• Co-ordinated the first Mandela Day in 
Mthatha

• Managed relationships and promotion of 
stakeholder events through an integrated 
and proactive approach leveraging on 
stakeholder use of museum premises for the 
birthday, creating opportunities for group 
presentations.

• Branding facelift, designed and produced the 
corporate materials such as business cards, 
diaries, and branded conference material, 
strengthening of quality of service for the 
Ithemba craft project,  

• Ensured the museum visual presence in 
all stakeholder events including making 
available museum information

• Worked closely with the programmes 
department in youth camp, debates 
programme and Art in residency programme 
facilitation, designed and printed production 
of a broad range of communication materials, 
promotion, certificates of attendance 
photography, filming and  graphic design 
services.
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• The management of issues from print and 
electronic media including the SABC/
Mandela funeral scandal by referring to 
CEO, giving background information, press 
releases, timely responses to inquiries and 
interviews. 

6. Publicity and Media Coverage
6.1. Newspapers

The museum featured prominently in five national 
newspapers, several provincial, regional and 
local magazines in English, Xhosa and Afrikaans.  
The museum enjoyed wide coverage by national 
and international electronic and broadcast media 
including the international print media.

6.2. Television
The Nelson Mandela Museum received an 
impressive rate of airtime in SABC television 
Channels and etv. When SABC broadcast from 
Qunu the  museum featured in all SA television 
channels during prime time. The museum has 
also recently featured in SABC 3 educational 
programme (which way television) filmed on site 
in July and played on Tuesdays and repeated on 
Saturdays. International television networks that 
filmed the museum include Germany, France, 
Fox news, Al-jazeera and Brazil television. It is 
important to however mention the fact that the 
news networks are mostly interested in Nelson 
Mandela and Qunu cultural landscape, and 
normally require a lot of skilled persuasion to 
include the museum or change their script, for 
which the museum has so far been successful.

7. Museum collateral 
The upgrading of the website and development of new 
brochures took longer than was planned due to quality 
control and capacity issues, and was only concluded 
after financial year end.  

The Nelson Mandela Museum is linked to most embassy 
websites, Eastern Cape Tourism Board and South African 
Tourism.  Photos were released to SA Tourism for putting 
on their 2010 world cup  promotional package. Welcome 
boards have been erected on both sites of the museum. 

Progress towards erecting more sign boards in other 
strategic areas is underway.   Negotiations are underway 
for provision of branding space for Nelson Mandela 
Museum at Mthatha Airport. Arrangements telescreen 
advertising at strategic points is also in progress.

8. Sales growth analysis
High occupancy rates were experienced during the period 
in question, Escalating sales growth is anticipated based 
on major upgrade of accommodation facility as well as 
sporting facility under construction.  The sporting facility 
will attract sporting coaching clinics and boost the sport 
tourism market segment.

9. Advertising and promotion interventions
Strategies to maximise revenue yield such as:

• Advertising space in accommodation, 
business and conference magazines is 
booked for the 2010 issues.

• Yield management techniques with special 
focus on rate plans for corporate, frequent 
guest, groups and wholesalers, low season 
and high season rates

• Build patronage
• Setting clear service quality targets, have 

been developed and will be implemented in 
the next financial year.

10. High level plans for the next financial year
Planned for the next financial year are the following 
activities:

• Road shows for immediate community 
consultation

• Stakeholder presentations. This is referring 
to institutions of higher learning as well as 
with education centres and clusters

11. New Innitiatives
A multi-option tour package themed ‘in the footprints’ 
featuring Nelson Mandela Museum, Sites directly 
associated to Nelson from Mvezo to Alice, the Wild 
Coast and other sites of historical significance, has been 
developed and is aggressively marketing and already 
attracting Travel Agents, Coastline accommodation 
owners, tourism associations from around South Africa 
and the world.  The package is flexible and easily 
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customised to suite the visitors and needs.   It has been 
highly consumed since Indaba. A South African based 
German museum associate has committed to supporting 
the initiative by organising weekly German visits through 
his German networks and association with TUI. 

These various campaigns included:
• Exhibition campaigns

The Mandela  photographic exhibition featuring 
Nelson Mandela’s collection currently not in 
public domain, was launched at Drakenstein 
prison and National Legisture in Cape Town on 
11 February. It received overwhelming coverage  
by all news media networks for print distribution 
and television news broadcast as news and short 
documentary.  This led to a series of live and 
recorded interviews with the Chief Executive 
Officer of the museum and the Marketing 
Manager

• Social Marketing 
The primary focus on youth with disability in arts 
and crafts training and production by the Nelson 
Mandela Museum made the museum sites more 
popular to all youth groups. Most recruits were 
from Efata and Khwezi Lokusa Schools for the 
disabled.

• Corporate identity campaign
The Department Marketing and Communications 
developed a marketing and communications 
strategy for 2010, a comprehensive programme 
that included a brand facelift and eye catching  
selection of images used in all museum 
collateral with a 2010 logo symbolizing the 
10th anniversary of the museum and the 20th 
anniversary of Nelson Mandela’s release from 
prison. This was distributed throughout the world 
through various networks and platforms including 
indaba 2010. This proved fruitful as the museum 
became a major attraction in all platforms such 
as tradeshows and expos attended during the 
fiscal year.

Radio Programme
Drawing on the success of the youth camps held at the 
museum involving youth the marketing Department 
created a radio programme which featured debates 

and poetry reading, broadcast live by a local radio 
stations, featuring various themes. This was an outreach 
programme targeting mainly out of school and informally 
schooling youth. It coincided with youth camps meant 
for formal school going learners, as a way of inclusion. 
Themes varied according to seasons and celebrated 
dates such as the Youth day on June 16 and the museum’s 
10th Anniversary Celebration. The radio programmes 
also presented an opportunity for feedback. Three radio 
ads reinforcing the print campaign were professionally 
produced and placed on targeted media throughout 
the Eastern Cape. The outcome was overwhelming 
more especially on the subject of whether the Youth Day 
should continue being celebrated. The points raised by 
these groups pointed to the fact that the current system 
of education which emphasizes research although it is 
a good approach however favored city based schools 
because of their access to resources. They felt highlighted 
rural underdevelopment and lack of resources was 
effectively discriminating leading to the poor quality of 
education. The radio programme generated over 1500 
enquiries from learners and community members in the 
radio station catchment area.

Direct communication
This was launched in the month of October 2009 in 
the eve of the launch of the Popular Mandela: Leader 
exhibition on 30 October 2009 by Chairperson Professor 
Kader Asmal. E-mail messages were sent to tour operators 
worldwide and countrywide. Our database increased 
immediately thereafter as well as enquiries.

Web Upgrade
Although the project was not complete at year end, it is 
at a very advance stage, has taken advantage of diverse 
industry feedback and will have many modern features 
indluding: , 

• Conferences and events page. 
• Creating an online version of the Visitor’s 

book with virtual paging.
• Picture gallery and slideshow page
• Creating “read more” tabs on the about 

page
• Create a news archive with a search 

box to find any NMM story.
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•  Adding the “Gift to the Nation” feature 
(under News & Events)

•  Add “Tours” as a separate button/
page

•  Creating a link between the NMM 
website and E. Cape Tourism Board, 
Wild Coast and NMF website.

Social media
The museum opened a Twitter account  to grow awareness 
of the Museum’s existence and operations, vision and 
mission, to media, tour operators, tourism authorities and 
consumers globally.

To date, we have initiated a massive ‘follow’ campaign in 
which we identified appropriate institutions, organizations 
and individuals to follow. These include museums, tour 
operators, tourism organizations, media and individuals.

Museum Store 
The museum store is currently not separated from the 
Ithemba Arts and Crafts project. Therefore the recruitment 
of a short term project manager with experience in 
community based projects and an artist himself highly 

improved the quality of production. Product development 
and design workshops for participants were held and new 
signature designs were launched. Diversified products 
mainly in leather and fabric mediums became popular 
and attributed to the significant increase in visitor growth 
and merchandise sales growth. 

Partnerships
The marketing department embarked on a  partnership 
drive using the halls, accommodation and conference 
facilities as incentive, Offering free to discounted rates to. 
That strategy yielded good results as bookings multiplied 
due to the exposure the museum facilities received 
during workshop and conferences organized and run 
by partnerships run by our partners. The museum enjoys 
support of the KSD Local Municipality  that led to high 
occupancy rates and increased sales growth.

Feedback strategy
Visitor comments/suggestions were collected from 
comments register together with visitor satisfaction survey.    
This is where visitors express their views of what they think 
of the museum and its exhibitions after which changes 
towards meeting their expectations are effected.
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Programme 04: Programmes Department Report

Background Information
The Nelson Mandela Museum Programs Department 
undertakes activities aimed at sharing the resources that 
are linked with Nelson Mandela. These are done through 
research, education, exhibitions, collections, protection 
and preservation of material that reflects the legacy of 
Nelson Mandela and his contemporaries. Some of these 
activities are done with strategic partners of the museum.  
The following is the report of the 2009/10 financial 
year that made the Nelson Mandela Museums’ public 
programming a reality and connected the museum to its 
communities and publics. 

The government programme of action places great 
emphasis on youth development, collaboration and 
education.  The work of this department captures this in 
different ways. 

This programme has managed to reach diverse audiences, 
to put an emphasis on work with young people, to 
contribute to preservation of the museum collections.  This 
programme has faced the challenges of understaffing, 
and difficult access to fully qualified full time staff and the 
general impact of low budget and poor capitalisation.  In 
spite of these challenges the programme has delivered 
the following initiatives among others. 

1. Education
In the reporting year, the department hosted 3 camps that 
form part of the Leadership Institute 

Winter School Camp 
The camp took place on the 28 June to 09 July 2009 
during the school vacation at the Nelson Mandela 
Youth and Heritage Centre, Qunu. The camp attracted 
55 learners between the ages of 14 to 18 years of 
age and 9 educators from all the 9 Provinces of the 
Republic of South Africa to be inspired by the values that 
Nelson Mandela stood for . The camp also hosted an 
exceptional performance by Victor Gama from Angola, 
Julia Rayhaman from Cape Town as well as young boys 
from Mthatha. As part of the activities a presentation on 
HIV/AIDS and on Leadership Skills were rendered. A 
theme for the camp was used as a guideline to mould 
the youth of today to become exceptional leaders and 
see things in different perspectives and with a sharp 

eye, named as “Youth Interacting through the Voice of 
the Nelson Mandela Museum”. The rationale behind 
the theme aimed to stimulate their learning and growth 
through interaction between individuals as well as to 
provide the opportunity to learn art as a healing process. 
Through the camp, learners were able to produce a news 
letter and a booklet on the participant’s experiences is 
being designed and will be made available to the people 
of South Africa and the world. 

Artist in Residency Program
The Artist in Residency project is a programme which 
engages out of school youth that have an interest in 
developing their skills in drawing and to reflect their present 
day realities and challenges as well as developing art 
pieces of work that reflects on Dr Nelson Mandela’s foot 
steps.   In June 2009, the programs department hosted 20 
artist from the 7 District of the Eastern Cape to continue 
with the aim of increasing the museum and remain relevant 
to its contemporary environment. Therefore, it enhances 
their creativity and thinking which makes them to reflect 
on racism, gender discrimination, xenophobia, poverty 
and other social ills as it also explores and advances the 
ideas of reconciliation.. As a result of the workshop, 30 
portraits were produced by the participant and exhibited 
and launched for public viewing on the 04 July 2009 at 
the museum. 

International Youth Camp
The Nelson Mandela Museum has a close relationship 
with the people of Germany specifically the government 
of Lower Saxony, in March 2010, the government of 
Lower Saxony extended an invitation for 4 young people 
from South Africa to participate in an International Youth 
Camp in Germany together with 2 delegates from Nelson 
Mandela Museum which focuses on racism specifically 
on the experiences of the Jewish community that resulted 
to the holocaust during WWII. The camp attracted 10 
countries such as South Africa, Germany, Netherlands, 
Russia, Belarus, Poland, Israel, Lithuania and Hungary. This 
working relationship is a result of the bilateral agreement 
between the Eastern Cape Government and the Province 
of Lower Saxony, Germany. One of the dominant features 
of the camp is that young people must work together in 
the creation of objects for themselves and for others. 
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2. Product development
Nelson Mandela’s life story is an important story in the 
history of South Africa and the world, particularly as it 
pertains to specific values such as those of freedoms, 
humanity, resilience, peace and reconciliation. Such 
history has a critical role to shape the society and contribute 
to nation building.  As part of Nelson Mandela Story, 
the department has developed an Activity Book based on 
the Nelson Mandela museum exhibitions, a Poetry book 
which is a product of youth camps and a Board Game 
based on the Life and times of Nelson Mandela.

The above learning material is currently being distributed 
to schools in the Eastern Cape and wish to extend to other 
Provinces around.

Below is a table which indicates a number of schools 
that were visited in each district 

Towns Number of books per district

Mthatha 52

Libode 13

Tsolo 19

Maclear 7

Port St Johns 22

Lusikisiki 10

Dutywa 17

Centane 10

Butterworth 6

Grahamstown 50

Mqanduli 16

Ngqeleni 12

Elliotdale 10

Matatiele 15

Ngcobo 15

Willowvale 29

Cofimvaba 10

Tsomo 10

3. Partnerships
The Nelson Mandela Museum is involved in several 
strategic partnerships with other organisations and 
institutions. Some of the strategic partnerships are as 
follows

Connecting Classrooms
The programmes department is involved with the school 
twinning programme with the British Council. The school 
twinning programme connects classrooms between South 
Africa, Kenya, Mozambique and the United Kingdom. 
There are nine schools from the Eastern Cape that 
participate in the programme and all of them participate in 
various programmes of the museum. The museum interest 
in the programme aimed at facilitating opportunities for 
rural schools, educators and learners to be exposed to 
international norms and methodologies and for them to 
share experiences with schools from other countries. In 
October 4- 12, 2009, the educators from Kenya and 
United Kingdom visited educators in   South Africa where 
they held a workshop at the Nelson Mandela Youth 
and Heritage Centre before joining their counterparts in 
classroom.

International Youth Camp
Both the Nelson Mandela Museum and the Government of 
Lower Saxony exchange young people on an annual basis, 
in what both countries call ‘International Youth Camp. 
On the 12 -14 October 2009, the department hosted 
a German Delegation to discuss the 2011 International 
Youth Camp that will be held in South Africa.  This visit by 
Germans aimed to strengthening ties between the museum 
and Germans, and to inspect the museum camp site for 
suitability to host the International campers. Further to this 
a workshop was held at the museum to design a tentative 
programme of action leading to a successful camp in 
2011.

Ratlou Municipality
The museum on the 28 May 2010 hosted delegation 
from Ratlou Municipality in the North West Province with 
regard to host  a Nelson Mandela Museum exhibition in 
Reakgona Youth Museum which is partly funded by the 
municipality. As part of the museum outreach programme, 
the exhibition was installed on the 3 -10 March 2010 at 
the Youth Museum
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Albany Museum
The Mandela and Luthuli exhibition has travelled to 
Albany Museum in Grahamstown as part of the outreach 
programme. The exhibition was launched in at Albany 
Museum in Grahamstown on the 20 September 2009 for 
public viewing

Intellectual Agenda
The Nelson Mandela Museums subscribes to the concept 
of life long learning. The seminars and workshops are the 
intellectual programme of the museum for the discussion, 
understanding and investigation of issues regarding the 
history of the liberation struggle, the history of Nelson 
Mandela and his role in the liberation struggle as well as 
the history of his contemporaries.   In order to continually 
learn on what we do, on the 17 March 2010, the 
department hosted a workshop with museum stakeholders 
in order to have independent evaluation of the museum 
exhibitions at the Nelson Mandela Youth and Heritage 
Centre.

Exhibitions
Exhibitions are the dominant interpretation tool of the 
Nelson Mandela Museum and most visitors to the museum 
experience the museum through a tour of the existing 
exhibitions in the museum. The aim of exhibitions is to 
showcase the museum gifts to the public for learning and 
their enjoyment.  During the reporting year, the museum 
launched two exhibitions

Leader Comrade, Negotiator, Prisoner, Statesman
In October, 30, 2009, as part of the museum renewal 
strategy, an exhibition on making of Mandela was 
launched by Professor Kader Asmal. The exhibition is 
housed at Nelson Mandela Museum in Mthatha. This 
exhibition was developed together with our partners from 
the Nelson Mandela Foundation and Apartheid Museum. 
The exhibition focuses on the “triumph of the human spirit” 
and the imprint Nelson Mandela left in South Africa, the 
continent and the world. .

Mandela and Luthuli exhibition
The Nelson Mandela Museum together with the Luthuli 
Museum developed a joint exhibition that reflects on the 
life of Mr Nelson Mandela and Chief Albert Luthuli. The 
exhibition was installed on the 11 February 2010 at the 

Nelson Mandela Museum, as a major point in marking the 
Nelson Mandela Museum’s first decade.  This exhibition 
has proven very popular.

Comic Exhibition
The Department of Education donated the exhibition 
to the Nelson Mandela Museum. The exhibition was 
installed and launched at the Nelson Mandela Youth and 
Heritage Centre on the 18 March 2010, replacing a 
travelling exhibition based on Long Walk to Freedom that 
was loaned to the museum by the Robben Island Museum 
five years ago.

Heritage Conservation 
Some of the key result areas of the department are 
collections, protection and preservation of material 
that reflects the legacy of Nelson Mandela and his 
contemporaries

Upgrading of the Museum Storage
During this reporting year, the department has engaged 
in creating advanced facilities for collection storage and 
related function to provide easy access to researchers 
and to ensure sound conservation measures. 

Research Unit
Researches were appointed in the middle of February 
2010 to research on the provenance of the existing 
collections that were donated to the museum by Nelson 
Mandela and to locate and collect all the material relevant 
to  Nelson Mandela.  This is an area of enormous strategic 
importance to the museum, and is also not staffed by a full 
time permanent personnel. 

Library
The appointment of the library intern has speeded up the 
setting of the library and further to this, cataloguing of 
books and shelving is in progress.  The need for a full 
professional team cannot be emphasised enough. 
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Programme 05: Qunu 2010

The aim of the Centre is to be a place where learners and 
young people are inspired with and learn and converse 
about the story of Nelson Mandela and the Liberation 
Struggle in context, and undertake recreational activities. 
It is also a place where the museum does some of its 
income generating activities to support sustainability, 
tourism, job creation, creative industries and sustainable 
local economic development.  The centre offers a must 
see conference and meeting venue. 

In the year under review the following was planed:
• To generate R450 000 
• To host 85 events (leisure and business)
• To enhance the reservation system (from manual 

to a computerised program)
• Upgrading the accommodation facilities
• To improve the quality of the drinking water in 

the facilities
• Conclude Ithemba Project Initiative and ensure 

the formation of a sustainability vehicle for the 
participants

Progress regarding the aforegoing planned outputs can 
be summarised as follows:

• To generate R450 000: an amount of R450 
000 was generated in the period under review: 
This amount was generated through hiring out 
conferencing and accommodation facilities to 
businesses and organisation both in government 
and private sector.

• To host 85 events: In the period under review the 
Centre managed to host 67 events which is 79% 
of the targeted number of 85 events. The centre is 
quickly establishing it’s self as one of the leading 
venue for leisure events in the OR Tambo region. 
During this period the centre hosted a number 
of social events i.e. three birthday parties, 
four weddings and three end year functions. 
This increase can be attributed to a number of 
upgrades that took place in the Centre during this 
period that are as follows: Landscaping which 
gave a really nice facelift, giving the centre an 
edge in hosting outdoor events and generating 
business and enquiries from wedding planners.

• To enhance the reservation system: the need to 
have a proper reservation system that produces 
quotes and invoices that are sequential and 
numbered became imminent as the number of 
booking enquires increased. The Host which 
a reservation system that is used by a number 
of hospitality businesses has been acquired, it 
generates quotes and invoices electronically.

• Upgrading the accommodation facilities:  the 
upgrading of the accommodation facilities is 
an ongoing process that started in the previous 
financial year which resulted in facilities receiving 
Three Star Grading from the Grading Council of 
South Africa. In the period under review some 
more meaningful additions in accommodation 
room have been made, the two sleepers have 
been tuned into Double rooms with double beds 
and some furniture. TV’s with DSTV connection 
were installed and air conditioners were added 
in the rooms.

• To improve the quality of drinking water: a 
new water purifying system has been installed 
to purify the drinking water in the Centre. The 
drinking water from the borehole had too much 
salt in it and after some tests were conducted 
Public works recommended that the old purifying 
system be replaced by this one and the problem 
has since been solved.

• In the year under review the Lower Saxony 
Funding Agreement expired after three years 
of making continuous impact, delivering a 
museum craft shop, three groups of capacitated 
trainees, long term useable machinery, one new 
co-operative, and visibility in craft trade fairs. 
However the plan for the new financial year is 
to ensure sustainability vehicles with continued 
association with the museum.   
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Programme 06: Security, Facilities and Logistics

The purpose of this programme is to ensure that the Museum 
is secure, that its facilities are fit for the purpose and the 
Museum’s logistical requirements are met appropriately.

The period under review saw achievement of the 
following:

-  Ongoing co-ordination with local, provincial and 
national security structures was undertaken, with the 
head of this section appointed into the secretariat of 
the national security manager’s forum, 

-  Implementation of all urgent, short and medium term 
recommendations of Fort Hare report, outstanding 
long term matters are part of Bhunga upgrade and 
will be resolved upon completion of the project.

-  Renovation of the resource centre (Library), basement, 
Bhunga building control room and installation of 
integrated security system in the library.

-  Approved Security, Safety and whistle blowing 
policies by the Museum council.

-  Procurement of and installation of relevant equipment 
including computers, Qunu backup generator, 
Bhunga emergency water backup system 

-  Strengthening of physical security measures in and 
around Qunu Youth and Heritage Centre, including 
fencing the perimeter and around strategic areas 
like Sewage tanks and the information centre

-  Re-invitation of service providers to register in the 
museum database to ensure compliance with supply 
chain management and procument of goods, to 
remedy the very poor response received.

-  Installation of air conditioners for guest rooms and 
the offices at Qunu Youth and Heritage Centre. 

-  Department of Arts and Culture committed to support 
Bhunga building upgrade and Department of Public 
works appointed contractors and supervised work 
relatively well.

-  Completion of Bhunga building upgrade phase 1 
achieved the following:

- Installation of emergency water backup, to address 
impact of local water challenges  on the tourism 
facility, new more effective CCTV security system, 
new fire  suppression system for collections storage 
area, Correct positioning of backup generator and 
reinstallation.

-  Permitting Stages of Bhunga Upgrade phase two 
have started with sketch committee and SAHRA 
application,  

-  Prepared exhibition spaces for the installation of 
new exhibitions.

-  Service providers with service level agreement with 
the Museum were screened. 

-  Ongoing screening of newly appointed staff and 
maintenance of disclosure obligations by.

-  Security planning for all functions held in the Museum 
with SAPS Mthatha cluster. 
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NElSON MANdElA MUSEUM MUSEUM COUNCIl 
REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENdEd 31 MARCH 2010

1. general Information
1.1 Submission of the Annual Report to the 
Executive Authority
In accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 
Management Act, Act 1 of 1999, as ammended by Act 
29 of 1999 the museum council has pleasure in submitting 
for presentation to Parliament the report of the financial 
activities of the Nelson Mandela Museum for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2010. 

1.2 Applicable Acts and Other Information
The report is submitted in compliance with the Constitution 
of the Republic of South Africa (Act 108 of 1996); the 
Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999 as 
ammended by Act 29 of 1999); Treasury Regulations 
2001; and other applicable Acts and Regulations.

2. general review
The museum continues to act as a non-profit making 
organization. No material event has occurred to the 
financial affairs of the museum since the Statement of 
Financial Position date until the date of this report.

3. Statement of responsibility
The Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) as 
ammended requires the Council to ensure that the Nelson 
Mandela Museum keeps full and  proper records of its 
financial affairs. The annual financial statements should 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Nelson Mandela  
Museum, its financial results, its performance against 
pre-determined objectives and its financial position at 
the end of the year in terms of the Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice(GRAP) and in the manner required 
by the Companies Act 1973 in South Africa(Act No. 61 
of 1973).

The Annual Financial Statements are the responsibility of the 
Council. The Auditor General is responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the Financial Statements.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Statements of Generally Recognised 

Accounting Practice. These Annual Financial Statements 
are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
 The Council has reviewed the Nelson Mandela  Museum’s 
budget and cash flow projections for the year ended 31 
March 2010. On the basis of this review, and in view of 
the current financial position, the Council has every reason 
to believe that the Nelson Mandela Museum will be a 
going concern in the year ahead and has continued to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Financial 
Statements.

The Council determines, introduces and implements 
systems of internal control and risk management that are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance against material 
misstatements and losses. The entity also maintains these 
controls to safeguard assets against unauthorised use or 
disposal, and for the maintainance of proper accounting 
records and the reliability of the financial information 
used within the Nelson Mandela Museum

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and 
actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are 
identified.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Nelson Mandela 
Museum Council to indicate that any material  breakdown 
in the functioning of these controls, procedures and 
systems has occurred during the year unde review.

4. Financial results
Full details of the financial results are set out on pages 38 
to 74 in the financial statements.

5. Audit Report
The audit report of the Auditor General will be presented 
on pages 34 to 36.

6. Business Address
Physical Address:
Postal Address:
Cnr Nelson Mandela Drive & Owen Street
P.O. Box 52 808
Bunga Building, Mthatha. 5099
Mthatha. 5099

Council Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2010
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7. Nature of the Entity and its Principal 
Business
The Nelson Mandela Museum which is spread over three 
sites, namely Bunga Building, Qunu Youth and Heritage 
Centre and Mvezo Open Air museum, is a public entity 
falling under the national department of  Arts and Culture 
and was established in accordance with the prescripts of 
the Cultural Institutions Act, Act no. 119 of 1998 and is 
one of the Cabinet legacy projects.

Its core business is the conservation of heritage centred 
arround Nelson Mandela, collecting, exhibiting and 
exercising stewadship over heritage resources linked 
to Madiba, inspire people to learn and share from his 
legacy, impact on development through education, culture 
and tourism.

8. Materiality and Significance Framework for 
2009/2010
In terms of the Public Finance Management Act, Act no 
1 of 1999 as ammended, read with paragraph 28.1.5 
of the National Treasury Regulations, the council has 
developed and agreed to a framework of acceptable 
levels of materiality and significance.

9.  Opinion
In the opinion of the Nelson Mandela Museum council, 
based on the information available todate, the Annual 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2010, 
set out on pages 50 to 76 fairly present the financial 
position of the Nelson Mandela  Museum at 31 March 
2010 and the results of its operations and Cash flow 
information for the year then ended, fairly comply with 
the provisions of the Treasury regulations and the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999 as amended) 
and were approved by the Museum council in its capacity 
as an accounting Authority on the 31 May 2010 and are 
signed on its behalf by:   

On Behalf of Accounting Authority
Date: 31 May 2010



N e l s o n  M a n d e l a  N a t i o n a l  M u s e u m  A n n u a l  R e p o r t   2 0 1 0�0

Management Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2010

1. general review of the state of affairs
The Nelson Mandela Museum’s results for the year show 
an increase in reserves from R 10 493 058 to R 10 631 
237 which could be attributed to the net effect of the 
use of rolled over surpluses from previous years, use of 
which was authorised by National Treasury through the 
Department of Arts and Culture in August 2008, extention 
of which was further obtained during September 2009, 
and reclassification of leases from operating leases to 
Finance Leases. In the year under review a decrease in 
Cash and Cash equivalent from R19 224 308 to R 8 809 
880 has been recorded.        

The Nelson Mandela  Museum received most of its 
funding from the subsidy allocations from the National 
Government through the Department of Arts and Culture. 
Total revenue collected by the Nelson Mandela  Museum 
for the year under review increased by 11.75% from R 
20,197,813 to R 22 571 767. This increase is attributable 
to the relatively accelerated pace in which the special 
projects are being implemented which  have resulted into 
revenue being recognised as the projects implementation 
progress.The subsidy from the Department of Arts and 
Culture accounted for 65.38% of the total revenue while 
.038% was from Donor funding, 32.74% from project 
funding recognised as revenue as projects progress, 
1.84% realised as our own income generated through 
interest from bank investment of the amount received from 
various project funders, rental of conference venue and 
charge for acccommodation at Qunu Youth and Heritage 
Centre as well as sales realised on the sale of books and 
golf shirts. The operating expenditure for the year under 
review is R 22 596 964 eliciting an increase of 3.55% 
from that recorded the previous year, constituting a minor 
variance due to relative increase in other operating 
expenses comprised of advertising expenses, Audit 
fees, Council Travel and accommodation, Consultancy 
expenses , exhibition expenses, Repairs- Buildings, Security 
expenses and general travel and accommodation as main 
contributors. The operating expenditure is made up of 
20.59% fixed costs on personnel, 11.95% administrative 
and governance, and 63.64% core function activities and 
cost of sales of  0.36% as well as 3.46 Statutory Audit 

fees. The Nelson Mandela Museum is a going concern 
with a budget of R 15 412 000 for the year 2010/11. 
The Museum will continue to adopt a going concern basis 
in preparing its financial statements in the year ahead as 
the the budget indicates.   

While a great deal of work still needs to be done to improve 
the baseline funding to facilitate meeting targets set in the 
museum’s strategic plan, the results for the year under 
review demonstrate progress, and management remains 
committed to achieving their strategic objectives.

2. Services rendered by the Nelson Mandela 
Museum
The core business of the Nelson Mandela Museum 
is honouring and celebrating Mr Nelson Mandela, 
conserving, presenting and interpreting heritage resources 
linked to him, and inspire people to learn and share 
from his legacy while contributing to education, cultural 
renewal and economic development.

In the course of conducting its business the Museum has 
identified the sale of memorabilia, books and services like 
conference venues and accommodation as key income 
generating mechanisms. The Accommodation facilities 
at Qunu Youth and Heritage Centre have acquired a 
three star graded status and we now expect to continue 
penetrating the type of market we have been unable to 
reach before which will result in increase in visitorship. 

3. Tariffs  
Tariffs are charged for rental of conference facilities, 
supply of sleeping accommodation, hiring out of busses 
as means of transport, and prices are fixed for the sale 
of books and golf shirts. These have been determined 
by benchmarking against the conference facilities rentals 
charged in this area as well as the consideration of the 
museum operating costs and have been reviewed and 
approved by the Chief Executive Officer on delegation 
from Council and by the Museum Council itself through 
the approval of the New Museum Revenue Policy, having 
taken into account the museum’s graded status and 
changes in prices in the industry.

Report of the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South 
Africa.
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4. Capacity Constraints
Although certain posts in our organogram have been 
filled the museum is still cronically understaffed which is 
occassioned by an anomaly in the original baseline funding. 
However the museum council is constantly holding talks with 
our mother department with regard to funding and filling of 
critical posts in order to fulfil both its core function activities as 
well as supporting functions.This is evident from the museum’s 
organogram which is now a little above 50% populated.  

Capacity constraints delayed the institution and completion 
of a number of projects, and also affected the ability of 
the museum in addressing compliance with various pieces 
of legislation and regulations. For an example the Nelson 
Mandela Museum has put in place procurement guidelines 
and asset management controls through the development 
of a comprehensive Supply Chain Management Policy and 
a fixed asset management policy but there is no relevantlly 
qualified personnel like Procurement Manager/Officer to 
drive and implement these policies effectively. The museum 
will therefore be compelled to rely on consultacy services. 
The Leave policy has also been reviewed and other policies 
have been developed and approved by Council.

5. donor Funding
The Nelson Mandela Museum has established a Donations 
Box through which it has managed to collect R 8 503.55 
during the year under review.  

6. Equipment for Qunu
The equipping of the Qunu Youth and Heritage Centre is 
substantially complete and the operations have yielded 
a substantial amount in income with improvements in the 
furnishing of the accommodation facilities and jerking up 
of security in and around the premises.

7. Conclusion
The efforts that have been put in place in the year under 
review, put the Museum on a course in fulfilling its mandate, 
in honouring Mr Mandela, providing valuable learning 
opportunities for all its audiences, and an accountable 
sustainable institution.

Khwezi Mpumlwana
Chief Executive Officer.
Date: 31 May 2010
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This report was prepared as per the Treasury Regulations 
27.1.6 , 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) &(c) for public entities 
issued in terms of the Public Finance Management 
Act,1999(Act No 1of 1999) as amended by Act 29 of 
1999.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance

The Audit Committee of the Nelson Mandela Museum 
consists of the members listed hereunder. 
The composition of the Committee is set out below:

Name of member No. of meetings

1. Mr Elliot Chonco (Chairperson) 4  

2. Mr Luvuyo Dondolo 3   

3. Ms Zanele Hlatshwayo 1
   
4. Adv Loyiso Mpumlwana 2

5. Ms Lindelwa Majova Songca 3

6. Mr Thabang Moledi 0

Other persons who attended the Audit committee meetings 
regularly include the CEO, Mr Khwezi Mpumlwana and 
the CFO, Mr Mfuneko Mdludlu.

Audit committee`s responsibility
The audit committee supports the Nelson Mandela 
Museum`s Executive committee in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibility relating to internal controls, risks 
management, financial management and compliance 
with laws and regulations. The committee reports that 
it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference 
as its charter. The committee, also reports that is has 
regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and 
has discharged all its responsibility as contained therein. 
Accordingly, the committee operates in accordance with 
the terms of the said charter and is satisfied that it has 
discharged its responsibility in compliance therewith.  

The effectiveness of internal controls

The system of control is designed to provide cost effective 
assurance that assets are safeguarded; and that liabilities 
and working capital are efficiently managed. In line with 
the Public Finance Management Act, the internal audit 
provides the committee and management with assurance 
that the internal controls are appropriate and effective.
This is achieved by means of a risk management process, 
as well as the identification of corrective actions and 
suggested enhancements to the controls and processes.

During the year under review, there were no reports of 
significant or material non compliance with the prescribed 
policies and procedures from the various reports of 
the internal auditors, as well as the Audit report on the 
financial statements. Accordingly, the committee reports 
that the system of internal control for the year under review 
was efficient and effective. The committee however took 
note of the matters raised in the Auditor-General`s report 
and management resolve to address such issues.   

Evaluation of financial statements

The Audit Committee has;
• Not reviewed and discussed with the Auditor-General 

the audited financial statements to be included in the 
entity`s annual report with the report of the Auditor 
General and the Accounting Authority since the term 
of office expired in March 2010. 

• Not reviewed the Auditor-General`s management 
letter and management response.

On behalf of the previous Audit Committee I concur and 
accept the Auditor- General`s conclusions on the Annual 
Financial Statements and I am of the opinion that the 
audited financial statements be accepted and be read 
together with the report of the Auditor General.

Mr Elliot Chonco
Chairperson Audit Committee 

Audit Committee Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2010

Report of the Audit Committee for the year ended 31 March 2010
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Audit Committee Meetings
Name of Councilor 22nd May 2009 31st July 2009  6th december 2009 16th January 2010

Mr Elliot Chonco In Attendance In Attendance In Attendance In Attendance

Mr Luvuyo Dondolo In Attendance In Attendance Absent In Attendance

Adv Loyiso Mpumlwana In Attendance Apology Tendered Apology Tendered In Attendance

Ms Lindelwa Majova In Attendance. In Attendance Apology Tendered In Attendance

Mr Thabang Moledi Absent Absent Absent Absent

Ms Zanele Hlatshwayo In Attendance Apology Tendered Apology Tendered Absent
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements 

of the Nelson Mandela Museum, which comprise 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010, 
the statement of financial performance, statement of 
changes in net assets and cash flow statement for the 
year then ended, a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information as set out 
on pages 50 to 76.

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the 
financial statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and in the manner 
required by the Public Finance Management Act, 
1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999)(PFMA). This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor-general’s responsibility 
3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of 

South Africa and section 4 of the Public Audit Act of 
South Africa (Act no 25 of 2004), my responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1570 
of 2009 issued in Government Gazette 32758 of 
27 November 2009.  Those standards require that 
I comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion.

Opinion 
6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Nelson Mandela Museum as at 31 March 2010, 
and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended are prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with South African Standards 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
Standards of GRAP) and in the manner required by 
the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa. 

Emphasis of matter
7. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is 

not modified in respect of these matters:

Restatement of corresponding figures
8. As disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements, 

the corresponding figures for 31 March 2009 have 
been restated as a result of an error in respect of 
operating leases meeting the criteria of a finance 
lease as well as the adjustment of the incorrect prior 
year leave balances disclosed. 

Audit Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2010

REPORT OF THE AUdITOR-gENERAl TO THE NATIONAl PARlIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAl STATEMENTS 
OF NElSON MANdElA MUSEUM FOR THE YEAR ENdEd 31 MARCH 2010
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Irregular expenditure
9. As disclosed in annexure 3 of the financial statements, 

irregular expenditure to the amount of R8,7 million 
was incurred as a result of proper SCM procedures 
not being followed.

Additional matters
I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter:

Unaudited supplementary schedules
10. The supplementary information set out on pages 75 

to 76 does not form part of the financial statements 
and is presented as additional information. I have 
not audited these schedules and accordingly I do not 
express an opinion thereon.

REPORT ON OTHER lEgAl ANd REgUlATORY 
REQUIREMENTS 
11. In terms of the PAA of South Africa and General notice 

1570 of 2009, issued in Government Gazette No. 
32758 of 27 November 2009 I include below my 
findings on the report on predetermined objectives, 
compliance with the PFMA and financial management 
(internal control).

Findings

Predetermined objectives

Usefulness of information
The following criteria were used to assess the usefulness 
of the planned and reported performance:
• Consistency: Has the entity reported on its performance 

with regard to its objectives, indicators and targets in 
its approved [strategic plan/corporate plan/annual 
performance plan/integrated development plan], i.e. 
are the objectives, indicators and targets consistent 
between planning and reporting documents?

• Relevance: Is there a clear and logical link between 
the objectives, outcomes, outputs, indicators and 
performance targets?

• Measurability: Are objectives made measurable 
by means of indicators and targets? Are indicators 

well defined and verifiable, and are targets specific, 
measurable, and time bound?

The following finding relates to the above 
criteria for 
12. The measure as per the strategic plan and annual 

performance plan for the year under review did 
not relate directly to the budget submitted to the 
Department of Arts and Culture in respect of the 
objective to establish a Nelson Mandela reference 
library.

Compliance with laws and regulations
Included below are the findings related to material non-
compliance with the act as indicated: 

Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 
and Treasury regulations of 2005

Non adherence to requirements
13. Contrary to the requirements of Treasury Regulation 

27.1.8 and sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) of the 
PFMA, the audit committee of the public entity did not 
review the public entity’s compliance with legal and 
regulatory provisions. 

14. Contrary to the requirements of PFMA Sections 38 
(1)(f) and 76 (4)(b) not all payments due to creditors 
were settled within 30 days from receipt of an 
invoice. 

INTERNAl CONTROl 
15. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the 

financial statements and the report on predetermined 
objectives and compliance with the PFMA, but not 
for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control. The matters reported 
below are limited to the deficiencies identified during 
the audit.

leadership
16. Oversight responsibility over the control weaknesses are 

not analysed and appropriate actions were not taken 
that address root causes identified. This was evidenced 
by the numerous instances of non-compliance with 
SCM regulations and the internal control deficiencies 
that were noted during the audit process
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Financial and performance management
17. The entity did not perform adequate reconciliations 

for assets and the conditional grant expenditure 
on a monthly basis as the reconciliation were 
only performed at year end. As a result, pertinent 
information was not identified and captured in a form 
and time frame to support financial and performance 
reporting. Although the annual financial statements 
were submitted within the legislated timeframe, 
significant pressure was placed on management 
involved in the preparation of the annual financial 
statements which initially resulted in misstatements 
in the annual financial statements, but these were 
corrected with audit adjustments.

governance

18. The audit committee did not review the financial 
statements before the submission on the 30 May 
2010 as a result of their contract term expiring and 
as a result they were not able to detect the numerous 
errors identified during the audit process 

19. Segregation of duties to prevent fraudulent transactions 
and asset misappropriation within revenue is not 
adequate. The entity does not have an updated fraud 
prevention plan in place.

Mthatha
30 July 2010



N e l s o n  M a n d e l a  N a t i o n a l  M u s e u m  A n n u a l  R e p o r t   2 0 1 0 ��



N e l s o n  M a n d e l a  N a t i o n a l  M u s e u m  A n n u a l  R e p o r t   2 0 1 0��

Annual Performance Report 2009/2010

Strategic goal 1:  To build the museum’s content and strength is the core function 
as the living heritage of dr. Nelson Mandela and repository of that living heritage.
Strategic Objective 1

Responsible Business Unit Measurable Objective (Goal) Performance Measure (KPI) Target Base Year 2008/09 
Estimate

1st Quarter 
(Target)

2nd Quarter 
(Target)

3rd Quarter 
(Target)

4th Quarter 
(Target)

Performance Results Reason for Variance  /Comment

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Buying of south African flags September 2009/2010 1 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Removal of bird nests and carcasses September 2009/2010 Done, on going

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Installation of windows vertical blinds. September 2009/2010 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Installation of dehumidifiers at basement 
with air filters

September 2009/2010 1 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Fumigation of museum sites September 2009/2010 1 1 1 1 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Cutting of tree leaves. September 2009/2010 Done, on going

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Removal of cane flooring replaces it with 
tiles.

September 2009/2010 Due to unavailablity of 
funds KPI was not met.

Delayed approval to use 
remaining funds for Bhunga 
upgrade.

Security, facilities and Logistics  Project plan, budget and project 
reports 

Prepare scope of work for renovating 
the library and basement, obtain three 
quotations and appoint service provider.

85% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 25% Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Library systems and infrastructure 
and collection of books by and about 
Nelson R Mandela context.

Obtain quotations for library security 
system 

80% 2009/2010 10% 50% 10% 10% Performance Results 
met

Human Resource Friends of Nelson Mandela Museum Submit a project plan to council and Draft 
Consititution

1 2009/2010 1 Performance Results 
met

60% done,shifted to 2010/11

Programmes Development of ICMP/Master Plan (1) Drafting of specification (2) 
Advertising of specifications (3) 
Shortlisting (4) Evaluation (5) 
Adjudication (6) Appointment

Quarter 4 2009/2010 0% 0% 0% 25% 25% met The draft specifications were 
done but neded approval by 
Council before advertising could 
be done.

Programmes Collection Management Policy, 
strategy and Plan

Approved of the collection policy, 
strategy and plan

1 2009/10 0 0 0 1 Performance results 
met

Programmes Accessioning of museum artefacts Artefacts register in place, artefacts 
recorded on the register

Ongoing 2009/10 0% 0% 0% 30% 30%Performance 
results  met

Only one staff member was 
working with these artafects and 
had to also multitask by also 
conducting tours due to shortage 
of staff

Programmes Upgrade the electronic database of 
the collection

Electronic database designed and exists 1 2009/10 0 0 0 0% Performance Results 
not met

There were no staff members to 
conduct this tasks. By the end of 
the financial year researchers 
were not yet appointed.

Programmes Researching the collection including 
the provenance of the artefacts

Provenance of the artefacts recorded Quarter 4 2009/10 0 0 0 0% 0 Performance Results 
met

There were no staff members to 
conduct this task. By the end of 
the financial year researchers 
were not yet appointed.

Programmes Exhibition Policy, startegy and plan Approved exhibition policy 1 2009/10 0 0 0 0% 0 The Development of the 
Exhibition policy was overtaken 
by prioritised development of two 
exhibitions reflected below

Programmes Development of new exhibtions Installation of new exhibitions at Bhunga 2 2009/10 0 0 1 1 Performance results 
met

The exhibition policy was 
overtaken by events and the 
development of exhibtions 
became the focus in this financial 
year

Programmes Development of travelling exhibitions Presence of museum exhibitions in other 
sites

1 2009/10 0 1 1 1 Performance Results 
met

Programmes Development of a conservation policy Policy approved 1 2009/10 0 0 0 1 Performance Results 
met
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Strategic goal 1:  To build the museum’s content and strength is the core function 
as the living heritage of dr. Nelson Mandela and repository of that living heritage.
Strategic Objective 1

Responsible Business Unit Measurable Objective (Goal) Performance Measure (KPI) Target Base Year 2008/09 
Estimate

1st Quarter 
(Target)

2nd Quarter 
(Target)

3rd Quarter 
(Target)

4th Quarter 
(Target)

Performance Results Reason for Variance  /Comment

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Buying of south African flags September 2009/2010 1 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Removal of bird nests and carcasses September 2009/2010 Done, on going

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Installation of windows vertical blinds. September 2009/2010 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Installation of dehumidifiers at basement 
with air filters

September 2009/2010 1 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Fumigation of museum sites September 2009/2010 1 1 1 1 Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Cutting of tree leaves. September 2009/2010 Done, on going

Security, facilities and Logistics Implement Fort Hare 
recommendations 

Removal of cane flooring replaces it with 
tiles.

September 2009/2010 Due to unavailablity of 
funds KPI was not met.

Delayed approval to use 
remaining funds for Bhunga 
upgrade.

Security, facilities and Logistics  Project plan, budget and project 
reports 

Prepare scope of work for renovating 
the library and basement, obtain three 
quotations and appoint service provider.

85% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 25% Done

Security, facilities and Logistics Library systems and infrastructure 
and collection of books by and about 
Nelson R Mandela context.

Obtain quotations for library security 
system 

80% 2009/2010 10% 50% 10% 10% Performance Results 
met

Human Resource Friends of Nelson Mandela Museum Submit a project plan to council and Draft 
Consititution

1 2009/2010 1 Performance Results 
met

60% done,shifted to 2010/11

Programmes Development of ICMP/Master Plan (1) Drafting of specification (2) 
Advertising of specifications (3) 
Shortlisting (4) Evaluation (5) 
Adjudication (6) Appointment

Quarter 4 2009/2010 0% 0% 0% 25% 25% met The draft specifications were 
done but neded approval by 
Council before advertising could 
be done.

Programmes Collection Management Policy, 
strategy and Plan

Approved of the collection policy, 
strategy and plan

1 2009/10 0 0 0 1 Performance results 
met

Programmes Accessioning of museum artefacts Artefacts register in place, artefacts 
recorded on the register

Ongoing 2009/10 0% 0% 0% 30% 30%Performance 
results  met

Only one staff member was 
working with these artafects and 
had to also multitask by also 
conducting tours due to shortage 
of staff

Programmes Upgrade the electronic database of 
the collection

Electronic database designed and exists 1 2009/10 0 0 0 0% Performance Results 
not met

There were no staff members to 
conduct this tasks. By the end of 
the financial year researchers 
were not yet appointed.

Programmes Researching the collection including 
the provenance of the artefacts

Provenance of the artefacts recorded Quarter 4 2009/10 0 0 0 0% 0 Performance Results 
met

There were no staff members to 
conduct this task. By the end of 
the financial year researchers 
were not yet appointed.

Programmes Exhibition Policy, startegy and plan Approved exhibition policy 1 2009/10 0 0 0 0% 0 The Development of the 
Exhibition policy was overtaken 
by prioritised development of two 
exhibitions reflected below

Programmes Development of new exhibtions Installation of new exhibitions at Bhunga 2 2009/10 0 0 1 1 Performance results 
met

The exhibition policy was 
overtaken by events and the 
development of exhibtions 
became the focus in this financial 
year

Programmes Development of travelling exhibitions Presence of museum exhibitions in other 
sites

1 2009/10 0 1 1 1 Performance Results 
met

Programmes Development of a conservation policy Policy approved 1 2009/10 0 0 0 1 Performance Results 
met

Annual Performance Report 2009/2010
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Programmes Restoration policy and framework Policy approved 1 2009/10 0 0 0 0 0  Performance Results 
met

The conservation policy also 
focuses on the restoration 
of objects thus making the 
development of this policy 
redundant

Programmes Establishement of the library Development of project plan, budget and 
implementation

1 2009/10 10% 40% 10% 15% Performance Results 
met

Programmes Library systems and infrastructure 
and collection of books by and about 
Nelson R Mandela context.

books are bought and accessioned quarterly 2009/10 10% 50% 10% 10% Perfromance Results 
met

Programmes A Strategic Plan for the establishment 
of the Nelson Mandela Museum 
reference library

Adoption of the strategic plan by 
management

1 2009/10 25% 25% 25% 25% 0 Performance Results 
met

It is in the initial stages of 
development and lack of human 
resource contributed. For this 
task we still lack human resource 
since we only appointed an 
intern librarian to perform certain 
straight forward tasks that are 
urgently needed.

Programmes Cleaning of museum artefacts Cleaned Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH Report- Upgrading of the 
collections storage

Installation of the  following: Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Mobile filers, 

Bulk shelving for heavy duty material, 

220v, 16 amps for air filters, 

Unit - Light – Sliding Rails for hanging the 
paintings and portraits,

Climate controller that consists of 
dehumidifiers and air filters.

Flooring of the basement is on progress

Purchasing of 2Meitmester cabinets for 
keeping flat material is on progress

Buying of the conservation tools, six 
screw drivers and a claw hammer

Wrapping of museum objects with acid 
free paper is nearly finished

Proposed sketch plan for one office in the  
basement is in progress

Programmes UFH report: Access register to the 
collection storage

Ordered Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH – Object Artefact register Ordered Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH report: Unprocessed artefacts Labeling of shelves  and object  
documentation on process 

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH report: Blinds De installed Quarter 2 2009/2011 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Mandela  and Luthuli Exhibition Consultative meeting .Approval of the 
exhibition content and layout.

Quarter 2 2009/2012 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Making of a leader Exhibition Space measurement and approval of 
invoices for audio-visual material for 
the fabrication of the exhibition.De 
installation  of the two wings.Installation 
of the exhibition.

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Reference Library  
Books, furniture, computers, library  
stationery has been purchased.

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Material development Activity sheets for Mandela Luthuli 
travelling exhibition Distribution of activity 
books to schools

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Annual Performance Report 2009/2010
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Programmes Restoration policy and framework Policy approved 1 2009/10 0 0 0 0 0  Performance Results 
met

The conservation policy also 
focuses on the restoration 
of objects thus making the 
development of this policy 
redundant

Programmes Establishement of the library Development of project plan, budget and 
implementation

1 2009/10 10% 40% 10% 15% Performance Results 
met

Programmes Library systems and infrastructure 
and collection of books by and about 
Nelson R Mandela context.

books are bought and accessioned quarterly 2009/10 10% 50% 10% 10% Perfromance Results 
met

Programmes A Strategic Plan for the establishment 
of the Nelson Mandela Museum 
reference library

Adoption of the strategic plan by 
management

1 2009/10 25% 25% 25% 25% 0 Performance Results 
met

It is in the initial stages of 
development and lack of human 
resource contributed. For this 
task we still lack human resource 
since we only appointed an 
intern librarian to perform certain 
straight forward tasks that are 
urgently needed.

Programmes Cleaning of museum artefacts Cleaned Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH Report- Upgrading of the 
collections storage

Installation of the  following: Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Mobile filers, 

Bulk shelving for heavy duty material, 

220v, 16 amps for air filters, 

Unit - Light – Sliding Rails for hanging the 
paintings and portraits,

Climate controller that consists of 
dehumidifiers and air filters.

Flooring of the basement is on progress

Purchasing of 2Meitmester cabinets for 
keeping flat material is on progress

Buying of the conservation tools, six 
screw drivers and a claw hammer

Wrapping of museum objects with acid 
free paper is nearly finished

Proposed sketch plan for one office in the  
basement is in progress

Programmes UFH report: Access register to the 
collection storage

Ordered Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH – Object Artefact register Ordered Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH report: Unprocessed artefacts Labeling of shelves  and object  
documentation on process 

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes UFH report: Blinds De installed Quarter 2 2009/2011 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Mandela  and Luthuli Exhibition Consultative meeting .Approval of the 
exhibition content and layout.

Quarter 2 2009/2012 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Making of a leader Exhibition Space measurement and approval of 
invoices for audio-visual material for 
the fabrication of the exhibition.De 
installation  of the two wings.Installation 
of the exhibition.

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Reference Library  
Books, furniture, computers, library  
stationery has been purchased.

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Programmes Material development Activity sheets for Mandela Luthuli 
travelling exhibition Distribution of activity 
books to schools

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.
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Programmes Public Programming Winter School done Quarter 1& 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met

Attracted learners and educators 
from across South Africa in order 
to be inspired by the values that 
Dr Nelson Mandela stood for.  

Programmes Tours Presentation of visitor statistics Quarter 2 2009/2010

Strategic goal 2:  To build and mobilise resources (financial, human and material) of the 
museum to increase its organisational capacity to fulfill its mandate and pursue its strategic 
direction going into the future. At the same time to ensure there is good and improved 
governance. 
Strategic Objective: 

Responsible Business Unit Measurable Objective (Goal) Performance Measure (KPI) Target Base Year 2008/09 Estimate 1st Quarter (Target) 2nd Quarter 
(Target)

3rd Quarter 
(Target)

4th Quarter 
(Target)

Performance Results Reason for Variance  /Comment

Admin and finance To develop a highly effective board Establish a highly effective Audit 
Commiteee

100% 2009/2010 100% 100% 100% 100% Performance Results 
met

Terms came to an end on the 30 
September 2009 subsequently 
extended to 31 March 2010.

Admin and finance To develop a highly effective board Council and committee meeting and 
quality of support

80% 2009/2010 60% 70% 100% 100% One meeting per 
quarter achieved 
performance results

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Number of risk assessments to be 
performed.

1 2009/2010 100% Done with the 
assistance of internal 
audit as planned 
for the month of 
Feb2010.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Implement the Governance Improvement 
Plan in order to address issues raised by 
the Auditor General and reduce future 
ones.

100% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 25% 95% of the  issues 
raised has been 
resolved.

Technical Part of the Disaster 
recovery plan still outstanding 
but will be  resolved when Bunga 
upgrade is done

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Number of items in the audit  intervention 
plan addressed.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Compilation and Submission of budget to 
Council and DAC

Budget to be 
submitted to by 
February each 
year

2009/2010 100% Approved 2009/10 
budget submitted.

Approved Budget submitted to 
DAC by February  each year

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Compilation and submission of Monthly 
reports to council

Monthly 
management 
financial report by 
the 15th of month 
following the 
month of report

2009/2010 0 0 0 0 Unble to produce 
monthly reports due to 
capacity constraints.

No financial controller 
appointed.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Compilation and submission of quarterly 
financial reports to Council and DAC

Quarterly 
Financial Report 
submitted to 
council and DAC 
by the end of the 
month following 
the month 
reported on.

2009/2010 100% 100% 100% 1st,2nd and 3rd 
quarterly reports 
finished and 
submitted.

Capacity constraints.A financial 
controller has been employed.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

 Control and monitoring of Budget 
expenditure by Compilation of analysis of 
budget and actual expenditure report 

A comparative 
analysis of actual 
expenditure 
against budget 
produced monthly

2009/2010 100% 100% 100% 100% A comparative 
analysis of actual 
expenditure against 
budget was produced 
for the period April 
to November 2009.
An adjusted/revised 
budget for last four 
months submitted and 
approved by council 
on 23rd January 2010

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Updated and completed asset register, 
with revalued assets in accordance with 
IAS 16

95% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 20% Completed and 
updated asset register.

85% done

Annual Performance Report 2009/2010
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Programmes Public Programming Winter School done Quarter 1& 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met

Attracted learners and educators 
from across South Africa in order 
to be inspired by the values that 
Dr Nelson Mandela stood for.  

Programmes Tours Presentation of visitor statistics Quarter 2 2009/2010

Strategic goal 2:  To build and mobilise resources (financial, human and material) of the 
museum to increase its organisational capacity to fulfill its mandate and pursue its strategic 
direction going into the future. At the same time to ensure there is good and improved 
governance. 
Strategic Objective: 

Responsible Business Unit Measurable Objective (Goal) Performance Measure (KPI) Target Base Year 2008/09 Estimate 1st Quarter (Target) 2nd Quarter 
(Target)

3rd Quarter 
(Target)

4th Quarter 
(Target)

Performance Results Reason for Variance  /Comment

Admin and finance To develop a highly effective board Establish a highly effective Audit 
Commiteee

100% 2009/2010 100% 100% 100% 100% Performance Results 
met

Terms came to an end on the 30 
September 2009 subsequently 
extended to 31 March 2010.

Admin and finance To develop a highly effective board Council and committee meeting and 
quality of support

80% 2009/2010 60% 70% 100% 100% One meeting per 
quarter achieved 
performance results

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Number of risk assessments to be 
performed.

1 2009/2010 100% Done with the 
assistance of internal 
audit as planned 
for the month of 
Feb2010.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Implement the Governance Improvement 
Plan in order to address issues raised by 
the Auditor General and reduce future 
ones.

100% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 25% 95% of the  issues 
raised has been 
resolved.

Technical Part of the Disaster 
recovery plan still outstanding 
but will be  resolved when Bunga 
upgrade is done

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Number of items in the audit  intervention 
plan addressed.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Compilation and Submission of budget to 
Council and DAC

Budget to be 
submitted to by 
February each 
year

2009/2010 100% Approved 2009/10 
budget submitted.

Approved Budget submitted to 
DAC by February  each year

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Compilation and submission of Monthly 
reports to council

Monthly 
management 
financial report by 
the 15th of month 
following the 
month of report

2009/2010 0 0 0 0 Unble to produce 
monthly reports due to 
capacity constraints.

No financial controller 
appointed.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Compilation and submission of quarterly 
financial reports to Council and DAC

Quarterly 
Financial Report 
submitted to 
council and DAC 
by the end of the 
month following 
the month 
reported on.

2009/2010 100% 100% 100% 1st,2nd and 3rd 
quarterly reports 
finished and 
submitted.

Capacity constraints.A financial 
controller has been employed.

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

 Control and monitoring of Budget 
expenditure by Compilation of analysis of 
budget and actual expenditure report 

A comparative 
analysis of actual 
expenditure 
against budget 
produced monthly

2009/2010 100% 100% 100% 100% A comparative 
analysis of actual 
expenditure against 
budget was produced 
for the period April 
to November 2009.
An adjusted/revised 
budget for last four 
months submitted and 
approved by council 
on 23rd January 2010

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Updated and completed asset register, 
with revalued assets in accordance with 
IAS 16

95% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 20% Completed and 
updated asset register.

85% done
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Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Timely monthly, quarterly projections, 
reports, reconciliations and related.

12 2009/2010 3 3 3 3 Bank reconciliations 
for the months 
April, May, June, 
July, August and 
September , October, 
November and 
December 2009 
completed, checked 
and approved. Main 
and Sub Ledgers 
being reconciled 
for the Month of 
December 2009.

 
Bank Reconciliation produced 
monthly and Main and sub 
ledgers reconciled however 
4th quarter has not been 
done. Monthly reports are not 
done,three quarterly reports are 
done. 

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

  Fraud Prevention Plan in place Review of fraud 
prevention plan

2009/2010 Reviewing fraud 
prevention plan 
and filling up gaps 
identified on the risk 
assessment.

Admin and finance Ensure Compliance with Corporate 
Governance

Establish internal audit Function 100% 2009/2010 Performance Target 
Met

Existent for a three year term 
100% established.

Admin and finance Ensure Compliance with Corporate 
Governance

Implement internal audit coverage plan 100% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 25% Performance Target 
Met

Internal audit submit a year plan  
no deviation noted.

Admin and finance Ensure Compliance with Corporate 
Governance

Supply chain management policy, Asset 
management policy and systems

1 2009/2010 1 Policy document in 
place

Approved supply Chain 
management policy and Asset 
Management Policy in place.

Admin and finance Ensure Financial  sustainability of the 
Institution

Establish and compile price list and 
Revenue policy for the Museum Shop and 
Conference and accommodation facilities 
at Qunu

Approved  Revenue 
policy and price list in 
place.

  Revenue Policy approved by 
council during last meeting

Security,facilities and Logistics All policies have been developed 
or reviewed and approved by the 
council

Safety and Security policies submitted to 
council for approval

50% 2009/2010 10% 15% 10% 15% Done, Security policy 
Approved.

Security,facilities and Logistics Reporting mechanism and protocols 
to cover all statutory and governance 
reporting functions

Respecting  and follow the reporting 
protocol as well as compliance with 
governance

Ongoing 100% 2009/2010 1 1 1 1 Performance Results 
met

80%done

Security,facilities and Logistics Integrated IT systems that cut across 
and supports all the business units

Draft terms of reference. Ongoing IT 
committee meeting.Ensuring that all 
report IT related problems are resolved.

80% 2009/2010 20% 20% 20% 20% 60% done

Human Resource Training and Development facilitation 
for Exhibition Strategist

Submitted as part of WSP to Thetha. 2009/2010 2009/2010 100% Performance Results 
met

Work place skills plan submitted 
in first quarter.

Human Resource Accelerate the Skills Development 
plan

Submit WSP to SETA 100% 2009/2010 10% 10% 30% 20% 70% of Performance 
results was met.

Human Resource Ensure the Wellness matters are 
observed during the travelling 
exhibitions.

The staff is safely protected indemnity by 
the NMM is signed when they go out.  

1 2009/2010 1 Performance Results 
met

Human Resource Leave Module on Payroll. Implementation of Leave module in the 
Payroll

September 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met due to the 
computer dedicated 
for payroll system is 
old and it might crush. 
Requested budget to 
buy new computer.

The Payroll officer is struggling 
to implement the system correctly 
despite of the workshops she 
attended.

Human Resource Salary Alignment for the Museum 
employees

Submission done to the council and 
provisional approved.

2009/2010 2009/2010 Performance result 
was not met.

This has to be budgeted for the 
next financial year 2010/2011.

Human Resource Performance Management System Policy submitted to council and approved 
by council

Annually 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Policy approved and each 
manager will have performance 
agreements.

Human Resource Job  Evaluation Exercise Submission of JE forms to DAC July 2009/2010 Performance result 
was not met.

Non repsonse by the Department 
for the JE forms submitted.

Human Resource Recruit competent staff Admin Officer and Four Interns Jan-10 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Admin Officer and four interns 
appointed in the third quarter.

Human Resource Training and Development facilitation 
for Exhibition Strategist

Preparations for Project Management 
Programme for the Managers,          

2009/2010 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met in fourth quarter.

The Project management took 
place and nine management 
members are trained

Annual Performance Report 2009/2010
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Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

Timely monthly, quarterly projections, 
reports, reconciliations and related.

12 2009/2010 3 3 3 3 Bank reconciliations 
for the months 
April, May, June, 
July, August and 
September , October, 
November and 
December 2009 
completed, checked 
and approved. Main 
and Sub Ledgers 
being reconciled 
for the Month of 
December 2009.

 
Bank Reconciliation produced 
monthly and Main and sub 
ledgers reconciled however 
4th quarter has not been 
done. Monthly reports are not 
done,three quarterly reports are 
done. 

Admin and finance To improve the Museum’s financial 
management and administration 
and turnaround of its quality audited 
reports.

  Fraud Prevention Plan in place Review of fraud 
prevention plan

2009/2010 Reviewing fraud 
prevention plan 
and filling up gaps 
identified on the risk 
assessment.

Admin and finance Ensure Compliance with Corporate 
Governance

Establish internal audit Function 100% 2009/2010 Performance Target 
Met

Existent for a three year term 
100% established.

Admin and finance Ensure Compliance with Corporate 
Governance

Implement internal audit coverage plan 100% 2009/2010 25% 25% 25% 25% Performance Target 
Met

Internal audit submit a year plan  
no deviation noted.

Admin and finance Ensure Compliance with Corporate 
Governance

Supply chain management policy, Asset 
management policy and systems

1 2009/2010 1 Policy document in 
place

Approved supply Chain 
management policy and Asset 
Management Policy in place.

Admin and finance Ensure Financial  sustainability of the 
Institution

Establish and compile price list and 
Revenue policy for the Museum Shop and 
Conference and accommodation facilities 
at Qunu

Approved  Revenue 
policy and price list in 
place.

  Revenue Policy approved by 
council during last meeting

Security,facilities and Logistics All policies have been developed 
or reviewed and approved by the 
council

Safety and Security policies submitted to 
council for approval

50% 2009/2010 10% 15% 10% 15% Done, Security policy 
Approved.

Security,facilities and Logistics Reporting mechanism and protocols 
to cover all statutory and governance 
reporting functions

Respecting  and follow the reporting 
protocol as well as compliance with 
governance

Ongoing 100% 2009/2010 1 1 1 1 Performance Results 
met

80%done

Security,facilities and Logistics Integrated IT systems that cut across 
and supports all the business units

Draft terms of reference. Ongoing IT 
committee meeting.Ensuring that all 
report IT related problems are resolved.

80% 2009/2010 20% 20% 20% 20% 60% done

Human Resource Training and Development facilitation 
for Exhibition Strategist

Submitted as part of WSP to Thetha. 2009/2010 2009/2010 100% Performance Results 
met

Work place skills plan submitted 
in first quarter.

Human Resource Accelerate the Skills Development 
plan

Submit WSP to SETA 100% 2009/2010 10% 10% 30% 20% 70% of Performance 
results was met.

Human Resource Ensure the Wellness matters are 
observed during the travelling 
exhibitions.

The staff is safely protected indemnity by 
the NMM is signed when they go out.  

1 2009/2010 1 Performance Results 
met

Human Resource Leave Module on Payroll. Implementation of Leave module in the 
Payroll

September 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met due to the 
computer dedicated 
for payroll system is 
old and it might crush. 
Requested budget to 
buy new computer.

The Payroll officer is struggling 
to implement the system correctly 
despite of the workshops she 
attended.

Human Resource Salary Alignment for the Museum 
employees

Submission done to the council and 
provisional approved.

2009/2010 2009/2010 Performance result 
was not met.

This has to be budgeted for the 
next financial year 2010/2011.

Human Resource Performance Management System Policy submitted to council and approved 
by council

Annually 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Policy approved and each 
manager will have performance 
agreements.

Human Resource Job  Evaluation Exercise Submission of JE forms to DAC July 2009/2010 Performance result 
was not met.

Non repsonse by the Department 
for the JE forms submitted.

Human Resource Recruit competent staff Admin Officer and Four Interns Jan-10 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Admin Officer and four interns 
appointed in the third quarter.

Human Resource Training and Development facilitation 
for Exhibition Strategist

Preparations for Project Management 
Programme for the Managers,          

2009/2010 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met in fourth quarter.

The Project management took 
place and nine management 
members are trained
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Human Resource Ensure the Wellness matters are 
observed during the travelling 
exhibitions.

Supply of condoms in the Museum 
ablutions blocks. The staff is safely 
protected indemnity by the NMM is 
signed when they go out.  

2009/2010 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met in fourth quarter.

The display of condoms is 
mostly used by tourist visiting 
the museum so it benefiting the 
community as well. 

Human Resource Accelerate the Skills Development 
plan

SETA grant follow-up and send eight 
employees to Tour Guiding Course.

100% 2009/2010 10% 10% 30% 20% 70% of Performance 
results was met.

Human Resource Performance Management System Performance reviews done with CEO 
with all managers

2009/2010 2009/2010 50% Key Performance 
indicators have been 
set for all managers

Every management meeting 
tracks progress against strategy 
for each department manager.

Strategic goal 3:  To improve the museum’s communications, image and public profile 
(locally and internationally) and work towards the attainment of a world class status 
along such iconic museums as Maropeng (the cradle of human kind). 
Strategic Objective: 

Responsible Business Unit Measurable Objective (Goal) Performance Measure (KPI) Target Base Year 2008/09 Estimate 1st Quarter (Target) 2nd Quarter 
(Target)

3rd Quarter 
(Target)

4th Quarter 
(Target)

Performance Results Reason for Variance  /Comment

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To appoint Service provider for marketing 
& communication Solutions: Send rfp to 
various  service providers.Constitution 
of an adjudication panel.Organise a 
beauty parade session for shortlisted 
companies.Signing of the TOR/SLA by 
the appointed company.

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

The one company that availed 
itself for presentation was 
appointed based on price, 
industry knowledge and 
expertise.

Corporate identity solutions Service Provider appointed and service 
level agreement finalised

Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To enhance communication Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To enhance the entrance area for brand 
profile

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met

Logo application in progress

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To register the Nelson Mandela Museum 
trademark

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met

Trade Mark Registration 
facilitated by Oryx Media still in 
progress

Marketing Promote Qunu as a conference center To develop 10000 brochures for the 
Qunu conference

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met

Draft brochures in progress.

Marketing Increase museum visibility To erect signage at all strategic areas Quarter 2 2009/2010 Performance results is 
not met 100%

Welcome boards erected on 
both sides. Interior signage semi 
comple on both sites. Exterior 
signage incomplete on both sites.
Road signage semi-complete.
Vehicle branding semi-complete.

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution To achieve two television & internet 
commercials

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution Exclusive use in identity enhancement 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution Offline advertising campaigns :
To advertise in conference and 
accommodation guides.

Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution To develop and implement  
communication strategy for the launch of 
the meaning of Mandela Exhibition.

Quarter3 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Customer Relations Management  To increase customer satisfaction by 80% 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Shakeholder management To improve response time towards 
information requests,

2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Suggestions and comments 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Customer Relations Management To build relationships with the local 
tourism products and organisation.

Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Shakeholder management To participate effectively in the Heroes 
Marathon

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results is 
not met 100%

Lack of participation in 
preparatory meetings due to staff 
examination and vacation leave. 
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Human Resource Ensure the Wellness matters are 
observed during the travelling 
exhibitions.

Supply of condoms in the Museum 
ablutions blocks. The staff is safely 
protected indemnity by the NMM is 
signed when they go out.  

2009/2010 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met in fourth quarter.

The display of condoms is 
mostly used by tourist visiting 
the museum so it benefiting the 
community as well. 

Human Resource Accelerate the Skills Development 
plan

SETA grant follow-up and send eight 
employees to Tour Guiding Course.

100% 2009/2010 10% 10% 30% 20% 70% of Performance 
results was met.

Human Resource Performance Management System Performance reviews done with CEO 
with all managers

2009/2010 2009/2010 50% Key Performance 
indicators have been 
set for all managers

Every management meeting 
tracks progress against strategy 
for each department manager.

Strategic goal 3:  To improve the museum’s communications, image and public profile 
(locally and internationally) and work towards the attainment of a world class status 
along such iconic museums as Maropeng (the cradle of human kind). 
Strategic Objective: 

Responsible Business Unit Measurable Objective (Goal) Performance Measure (KPI) Target Base Year 2008/09 Estimate 1st Quarter (Target) 2nd Quarter 
(Target)

3rd Quarter 
(Target)

4th Quarter 
(Target)

Performance Results Reason for Variance  /Comment

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To appoint Service provider for marketing 
& communication Solutions: Send rfp to 
various  service providers.Constitution 
of an adjudication panel.Organise a 
beauty parade session for shortlisted 
companies.Signing of the TOR/SLA by 
the appointed company.

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

The one company that availed 
itself for presentation was 
appointed based on price, 
industry knowledge and 
expertise.

Corporate identity solutions Service Provider appointed and service 
level agreement finalised

Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To enhance communication Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results 
met.

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To enhance the entrance area for brand 
profile

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met

Logo application in progress

Marketing Corporate identity solutions To register the Nelson Mandela Museum 
trademark

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met

Trade Mark Registration 
facilitated by Oryx Media still in 
progress

Marketing Promote Qunu as a conference center To develop 10000 brochures for the 
Qunu conference

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results 
not met

Draft brochures in progress.

Marketing Increase museum visibility To erect signage at all strategic areas Quarter 2 2009/2010 Performance results is 
not met 100%

Welcome boards erected on 
both sides. Interior signage semi 
comple on both sites. Exterior 
signage incomplete on both sites.
Road signage semi-complete.
Vehicle branding semi-complete.

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution To achieve two television & internet 
commercials

Quarter 2 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution Exclusive use in identity enhancement 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution Offline advertising campaigns :
To advertise in conference and 
accommodation guides.

Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Media, promotion & sales solution To develop and implement  
communication strategy for the launch of 
the meaning of Mandela Exhibition.

Quarter3 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Customer Relations Management  To increase customer satisfaction by 80% 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Shakeholder management To improve response time towards 
information requests,

2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Suggestions and comments 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Customer Relations Management To build relationships with the local 
tourism products and organisation.

Quarter 3 2009/2010 100% Performance results is 
not met 100%

Marketing Shakeholder management To participate effectively in the Heroes 
Marathon

Quarter 3 2009/2010 Performance results is 
not met 100%

Lack of participation in 
preparatory meetings due to staff 
examination and vacation leave. 
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Strategic goal 4:To improve the infrastructure,facilities manangement and security 
of museum’s buildings and artifacts in all the three sites.
Strategic Objective: 

Responsible Business Unit Measurable Objective (Goal) Performance Measure (KPI) Target Base Year 2008/09 Estimate 1st Quarter (Target) 2nd Quarter 
(Target)

3rd Quarter 
(Target)

4th Quarter 
(Target)

Performance Results Reason for Variance  /Comment

Security,facilities and Logistics Progress on implementing the Fort 
Hare recommendations 

Implementation of all urgent, short and 
medium term recommendations of the 
report up to 40%.

September 80% 2009/2010 10% 40% 15% 15% Performance Results 
met

Security,facilities and Logistics Upgraded Bhunga Building, New 
Facility for Library and Research 
Programme

Completion of phase 1 of the project.-
library infrastructure is 100% complete.
Approval to have Bhunga upgrade 
divided into two phases.Approved 
heritage impact assessment for phase two 
of the project.

Ongoing 2009/2010 100% Issued Issuing of 
completion certificate 
of phase 1. 
 
 

Security,facilities and Logistics Commitment by DAC to support the 
project and release of relevant funds 

Approval of Phase 1 budget.Participation 
of DAC in Bhunga project coordinating 
meeting monthly.

Occassional  (3) 2009/2010 0 2 1 0 Performance Results 
met

Security,facilities and Logistics DPW appoints project team and 
contractors and supervises work well. 

Appointment of sketch plan committee by 
National Department of Public Works to 
liaise with professional team appointed 
on the project. 

Three years  (5) 2009/2010 1 2 3 5 Performance Results 
met

Security,facilities and Logistics Museum security plan Participate in provincial and national 
Security manager’s forum.Attend monthly 
SAPS cluster meeting.Effective liaises with 
all safety and security stakeholders in and 
around Mthatha.

Ongoing (1) 2009/2010 0 0 1 0 Performance Results 
met

Employees to understand 
that security is imperative to 
the organization and its core 
values. Security plan is in place 
however it is not adhered to by 
employees.

Security,facilities and Logistics All site are fully secure from any 
internal and external harm to the 
artifacts and properties

Updated CCTV software and remote 
viewing for both Qunu and Bhunga 
building.Implementation of panic system 
for all security officers.Strict access 
control at basement.Ensure compliance to 
internal security procedures.

Ongoing (5) 2009/2010 5 5 5 5 Performance Results 
met

Security,facilities and Logistics All the museum facilities are up-to-
date with maintenance 

Immediate reporting of all faults to DPW 
call centre and ensure 48 hours timelines 
is meet for all emergency work 

Ongoing (4) 2009/2010 4 4 4 4 Performance Results 
met
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of museum’s buildings and artifacts in all the three sites.
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(Target)
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National Department of Public Works to 
liaise with professional team appointed 
on the project. 
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Security manager’s forum.Attend monthly 
SAPS cluster meeting.Effective liaises with 
all safety and security stakeholders in and 
around Mthatha.

Ongoing (1) 2009/2010 0 0 1 0 Performance Results 
met

Employees to understand 
that security is imperative to 
the organization and its core 
values. Security plan is in place 
however it is not adhered to by 
employees.

Security,facilities and Logistics All site are fully secure from any 
internal and external harm to the 
artifacts and properties

Updated CCTV software and remote 
viewing for both Qunu and Bhunga 
building.Implementation of panic system 
for all security officers.Strict access 
control at basement.Ensure compliance to 
internal security procedures.

Ongoing (5) 2009/2010 5 5 5 5 Performance Results 
met

Security,facilities and Logistics All the museum facilities are up-to-
date with maintenance 

Immediate reporting of all faults to DPW 
call centre and ensure 48 hours timelines 
is meet for all emergency work 

Ongoing (4) 2009/2010 4 4 4 4 Performance Results 
met
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2010

Notes 31 March 2010 31 March 2009
R R

ASSETS
Non-current assets  5,171,676  1,998,164 
Property, plant and equipment 2  5,171,676  1,998,164 

Current assets  8,921,065  19,298,402 
Inventory 3  111,186 

 8,809,880 
 74,094 

 19,224,308 Cash and cash equivalents 4

TOTAl ASSETS  14,092,741  21,296,566 

lIABIlITIES

Non-Current liabilities  253,868  142,190 
Finance lease liability - non-current portion 8  253,868  142,190 

Current liabilities  3,207,636  10,661,318 
Trade and other payables 5  1,835,179 

 182,000 
 0 

 1,190,458 

 1,831,191 
 88,677 

 566,580 
 8,174,870 

Finance lease liability - current portion 8
Provisions;current 6
Conditional grants;current 7

TOTAl lIABIlITIES  3,461,504  10,803,508 

NET ASSETS

CAPITAl ANd RESERvES
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 9  10,631,237  10,493,058 
TOTAl NET ASSETS  10,631,237  10,493,058 

 TOTAl NET ASSETS ANd lIABIlITIES  14,092,741  21,296,566 
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Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended 31 March 2010

Notes 31 March 2010 31 March 2009
R R

REvENUE
Sale of goods - exchange transactions 10  90,816 

 22,148,223 
 8,504 

 324,225 

 37,536 
 19,279,249 

 8,464 
 872,565 

Transfers and subsidies received 11
Gifts, sponsorships and donations received 12
Other income 13

TOTAl REvENUE  22,571,768  20,197,813 

EXPENdITURE
Cost of Sales (SPR)  (80,231)  (83,219)

Administrative expenses 14  (2,699,906)
 (4,653,389)

 (780,644)
 (14,382,794)

 (3,178,958)
 (5,610,571)

 (492,850)
 (12,457,239)

Staff costs 15
Audit fees 16
Other operating expenses 17

TOTAl EXPENdITURE  (22,596,964)  (21,822,837)

dEFICIT FROM OPERATIONS  (25,197)  (1,625,024)

Finance income 18  184,738 
 (21,361)

 177,869 
 (15,517)Finance cost 19

SURPlUS/(dEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR  138,180  (1,462,672)
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets as at 31 March 2010

Notes Accumulated 
Surplus/(deficit)

Total Equity 

R  R 

Balance at 1 April 2008 as originally stated  11,955,730 
 - 

 11,955,730 
 - Correction of prior period error 20

 
11,955,730 
 (1,275,480)

 (187,192)

 
11,955,730 

 (1,275,480)
 (187,192)

As restated
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
Correction of prior year error 20

 
10,493,058 

 138,180 
 10,493,058 

 138,180 
Restated balance as at 31 March 2009
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

 
10,631,238 

 
10,631,238 Balance as at 31 March 2010
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Notes 31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

CASH FlOWS FROM OPERATINg ACTIvITIES

Cash receipts from customers  22,571,768 
 (22,033,973)

 20,301,384 
 (20,147,033)Cash paid to suppliers and employees

Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations 21  537,795 

 184,738 
(21,361)

 154,551 

 177,869 
(15,517)

Interest received 
Interest paid

Net cash inflows/ outflows from operating activities 23
 

701,172 
 

332,220 

CASH FlOWS FROM INvESTINg ACTIvITIES

Acquisition of:
Property, plant and equipment  (4,242,866)  (461,563)

Net cash flows from investing activities 24  (4,242,866)  (461,563)

CASH FlOWS FROM FINANCINg ACTIvITIES

Increase/(decrease) in Non-Current Liabilities
Conditional Grants  (6,984,413)

 111,678 
 (1,571,130)

 - Finance Leases

Net cash flow financing activities 25  (6,872,735)  (1,571,130)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (10,414,429)
 19,224,308 

 (1,699,893)
 20,924,200 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4  8,809,879  19,224,308 

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 31 March 2010
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Accounting Policies

1.  ACCOUNTINg POlICIES
1.1 Reporting Entity
These financial statements are for the Nelson Mandela 
Museum.  These financial statements encompass the 
reporting entity as specified in the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999)

1.2  Basis of Preparation
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Statements of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board in accordance with Section 55 of the 
Public Finance Management Act (Act no. 29 of 1999). 
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal 
accounting policies set out below. Accounting policies for 
material transactions, events or conditions not covered 
by the GRAP reporting framework, have been developed 
in accordance with paragraphs 7, 11 and 12 of GRAP 
3 and the hierarchy approved in Directive 5 issued by 
the Accounting Standards Board. Assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses have not been offset except 
where offsetting is required or permitted by a Standard 
of GRAP. These accounting policies are consistent with 
the previous period, unless explicitly stated. The details 
of any changes in accounting policies are explained in 
the relevant policy. The principal accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of these Financial Statements 
are set out below.

1.3  Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in South African 
Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity. Unless 
stated otherwise, all figures have been rounded off to the 
nearest Rand.

1.4   going concern assumption
These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
on the assumption that the entity will continue to operate 
as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.5   Comparative information
When the presentation or classification of items in the 
Annual Financial Statements is amended, prior period 
comparative amounts are restated. The nature and reason 

for the reclassification is disclosed. Where accounting 
errors have been identified in the current year, the 
correction is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, 
and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly. 
Where there has been a change in accounting policy in 
the current year, the adjustment is made retrospectively as 
far as is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are 
restated accordingly.

1.6  Significant judgments
Loans and Receivables
The entity assesses its loans and receivables for impairment 
at each reporting date. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the Statement of 
Financial Performance, the entity makes judgements as to 
whether there is observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
financial asset. The impairment for loans and receivables 
is calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical 
loss ratios, adjusted for national and industry-specific 
economic conditions and other indicators present at the 
reporting date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. 
These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in 
the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss emergence 
period.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and 
obsolete stock
An allowance for stock that is older than 5 years and is 
projected to take more than 5 years to sell is provided for 
in full.  Any stock that is physically identified as damaged 
is written off when discovered.

Impairment testing
Management used value in use or fair value less cost to 
sell to determine the recoverable amount of assets that 
may have been impaired.  

1.7 Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available.  Additional 
disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included 
in note 7 - Provisions. Provisions are measured at the 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date.
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1.8  Property, Plant and Equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:
a)  it is probable that future economic benefits associated 

with the item will flow to the entity; and
b)  the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct 
an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of 
an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the item and restoring the site on which it is 
located is also included in the cost of property, plant and 
equipment.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is written off over the 
useful life of the assets using the straight-line method.

The useful life of the assets is estimated as follows:
Motor vehicles    5 years
Computer equipment   3 years
Office equipment   6.7  years
Furniture and fittings   6.7  years
Other non-current assets  5 years

The asset’s residual value and the useful life are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial period-end. 
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 
the item shall be depreciated separately. The depreciation 
charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless 
it is included in the carrying amount of another asset. An 
item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of the asset (calculated as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss 
in the year the item is derecognised. 

Repair and maintenance are generally charge to expenses 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
However, major renovations are capitalised and included 
in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally 
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset will 
flow to the company. Major renovations are depreciated 
over the remaining useful life of the related asset.

1.9  Financial assets
Initial recognition
Financial assets are recognised in the Entity’s statement 
of financial position when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of an instrument.  Regular way 
purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded on 
the trade date.

Financial instruments are intially measured at cost (or 
fair value if significant difference), plus in the case of 
financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs.  The fair value of a financial instrument 
that is initially recognised is normally the transaction 
price, unless the fair value is evidend from the observable 
market data.  The entity uses a discounted cash flow model 
which incorporates entity-specific variables to determine 
the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded 
in an active market.  Differences may arise between 
the fair value initially recognised(which, in accordance 
with IAS39, is generally the transaction price) and the 
amount determined using the valuation technique.  Any 
such differences are subsequently recognised in profit or 
loss only to the extent that they relate to a change in the 
factors (including time) that market participants would 
consider in setting the price.

The entity classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories:
-  at fair value through profit and loss
-  held-to-maturity
-  loans and receivables and
-  available-for-sale

The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
entity acquired the financial assets. 

Accounting Policies
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
This category has two sub-classifications, namely financial 
assets held for trading and financial assets designated as 
at fair value through profit or loss at the inception of the 
instrument.  Derivative instruments are classified as held 
for trading unless they qualify as designated and effective 
hedging instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss.  Cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash in the bank and short-term 
deposits, and other short-term investments that are highly 
liquid and can readily be converted into cash.

Financial assets are designated into this category when 
their accounting treatment in terms of this category results 
in more relevant information than accounting in terms of 
another category or it is a contract that contains one or 
more embedded derivatives.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
initially measured at fair value excluding any transaction 
costs.  Sebsequently these assets are measured at fair 
value, with gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.  
Net gains or losses consist of fair value adjustments and 
gains and losses on derecognition and they are included 
in “other income” or ‘’other expenses’’.  Interest and 
dividend income are reported separately from net gians 
or losses.  Interest income, calculated using the effective 
interest rate method, is included in “interest income’’.

Held to maturity and loans and receivables
These financial assets are initially measured at fair value 
plus direct transaction costs. 

At subsequent reporting dates these are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable 
amounts. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is 
impaired, and is measured as the difference between 
the investment’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition. Impairment 

losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase 
in the investment’s recoverable amount can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is 
reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial assets that the company has the positive intention 
and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to 
maturity.

Loans and receivables
This category represents non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  It includes short-term receivables, such 
as trade and other receivables, and long-term receivables, 
such as loans granted.  This category may also include 
financial assets that would have been inpaired or past 
due if the terms of the instrument were not renegotiated.

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value, 
plus transaction costs.  Subsequently, items included in this 
category are measured at the amortised cost, calculated 
based on the effective interest method, and interest 
income is included in profit or loss for the period.  Net 
gains or losses represent reversals of impairment losses, 
impairment losses and gains and losses on derecognition.  
Net gains or losses are included in ‘’other income’’ or 
‘’other expenses’’.

Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are 
measured at the original invoice amount, if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

Impairment losses are recognised on loans and receivables 
when there is objective evidence of impairment.  An 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  The recoverable amount is calculated as the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument. 

Assets that are individually significant are considered 
separately for impairment.  When these assets are 

Accounting Policies
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impaired, and impairment loss is recognised directly 
against the related asset.  Assets that are individually 
significant and that are not impaired, and groups of small 
balances are considered for impairment on a portfolio 
basis, based on similar credit risk. impairment losses are 
recognised in an ‘’allowance account for credit losses’’ 
until the impairment can be identified with an individual 
asset, and, at that point, the allowance is written off 
against the individual asset.

Initial recognition
Financial assets are recognised in the Entity’s statement 
of financial position when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of an instrument.  Regular way 
purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded on 
the trade date.

Financial instruments carried on the Statement of Financial 
Position include Cash, bank balances, Call and Notice 
Deposits, Receivables and Payables and are measured 
at cost.

1.10  Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the 
rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transactions.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling 
at the reporting date.  Unrealised differences on monetary 
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they occur.  

1.11  Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at cost and subsequently 
at the lower of cost or net realisable value.  Any write-
down to net realisable value is recognised in profit or 
loss.  Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour costs 
and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition 
(based on normal operating capacity).  Cost is calculated 
using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less any costs of completion and disposal.

1.12  Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate method

1.13  leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if 
it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership.

Finance leases – lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet at amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance 
lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of 
the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in 
the lease.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and reduction of the outstanding liability.The 
finance charge is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of on 
the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating 
lease asset. This liability is not discounted.Any contingent 
rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.14  Irregular and fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in 
contravention of or not in accordance with, a requirement 
of any applicable legislation. Fruitless and Wasteful 
expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain 
and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.  All irregular and fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is charged against income in the period in 
which they are incurred.

Accounting Policies
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1.15  Taxation
The Museum is exempt from taxation in terms of the 
provisions of section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

1.16 Transfers and subsidies/government grants
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction, e.g. 
grant, other than services in-kind, that meets the definition of 
an asset shall be recognised as an asset when, and only when: 
 
- it is probable that the future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the asset will flow to the entity; 

and
- the fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. 
 
The entity only recognises an asset arising from a non-
exchange transaction when it gains control of resources 
that meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the 
recognition criteria.

Grants received without any conditions attached are 
recognised as revenue when the asset is recognized. 
If the entity has satisfied all of the present obligations 
related to the inflow, it recognises an asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position and corresponding 
revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance.. 
 
If the entity has partially satisfied the present obligations 
related to the inflow, it recognises an asset and revenue 
to the extent that a liability is not also recognised and 
a liability in the Statement of Financial Position to the 
extent that the present obligations have not been satisfied. 
 
An asset, e.g. property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and inventory acquired through a grant is initially 
measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.  
 
Monetary assets that would otherwise meet the 
definition of a financial instrument, e.g. cash and 
transfers receivable, will also be measured at fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. These assets are 
subsequently measured, derecognised anddisclosed in 
accordance with the standards on financial instruments. 
 
Revenue from a grant is measured at the amount of 
the increase in net assets recognised by the entity. 

1.17  Provisions
The entity recognises a provision when it has a present 
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that the entity will be required to settle the obligation.  
Provisions are measured based on the best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date.  Where the effect ot the time 
value of money is material, the amount of the provision 
is discounted to present value using a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current assessments of the time value of money.  
The increase in the amount of the provision as a result of 
the passage of time is recorded in profit or loss for the 
year.

1.18  Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include salaries and wages, 
short-term compensated absences and bonus plans.  The 
entity recognises a liability and corresponding expense 
for short-term employee benefits when an employee has 
rendered services that entitle him/her to the benefits.

Post-employment benefits
Payments made to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense on the accrual basis. The 
Nelson Mandela Museum operates defined contributions 
plans called Omed Orion Provident Fund administered 
by Old Mutual and a Medical Aid Scheme administered 
by Bonitas Medical Aid Scheme.   Once the contributions 
have been paid the Museum has no further payment 
obligation.  The regular contributions constitute periodic 
costs for the year in which they are due and such are 
included in the staff costs.  

1.19  Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable.
Revenue from the sale of goods consists of retail sales to 
customers and is recognised when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have been passed to the buyer. 

1.20  Borrowing cost
Borrowing costs received on conditional grants are 
recognised on a systimatic basis using the percentage of 
completion of projects in profit or loss.  Other borrowing 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Accounting Policies
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2. Assets Notes

Property, Plant 
and Equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Computer 
Equipment

Office 
Equipment

Furniture 
and 

Fittings

Capitalised 
leased 
Assets

Other non-
Current 
assets

TOTAl

R R R R R R
Opening net 
carrying amount 
as at 1 April 
2008

 884,572  309,468  56,681  412,207  124,315  1,787,243 

Gross carrying 
amount

 1,183,813  887,752  116,973  625,288  -  216,490  3,030,315 

Accumulated 
depreciation

 (299,241)  (578,285)  (60,291)  (213,081)  -  (92,174)  (1,243,072)

Movements for 
2008

 102,536  (55,194)  1,022  (74,574)  236,713  417  210,921 

Additions  278,500  113,771  13,207  11,937  293,850  44,149  755,414 
Depreciation 
charge

 (175,965)  (168,965)  (12,185)  (86,510)  (57,138)  (43,732)  (544,494)

Closing net 
carrying amount 
31 March 2009

 987,108  254,274  57,703  337,633  236,713  124,732  1,998,164 

Gross carrying 
amount

 1,462,313  1,001,523  130,179  637,224  293,850  260,639  3,785,728 

Accumulated 
depreciation

 (475,206)  (747,249)  (72,476)  (299,591)  (57,138)  (135,906)  (1,787,565)

Movements for 
2010

 (154,145)  247,328  472,365  1,739,014  168,750  700,202  3,173,514 

Additions  -  520,797  547,032  1,991,462  285,750  897,825  4,242,866 
Depreciation 
charge

 (154,145)  (273,470)  (74,667)  (252,448)  (117,000)  (197,623)  (1,069,352)

Closing net 
carrying amount 
31 March 2010

 832,963  501,602  530,068  2,076,648  405,463  824,934  5,171,676 

Gross carrying 
amount

 1,462,313  1,522,320  677,211  2,628,686  579,600  1,158,464  8,028,594 

Accumulated 
depreciation

 (629,350)  (1,020,719)  (147,143)  (552,038)  (174,138)  (333,530)  (2,856,918)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

3 Inventory
Finished goods  111,186  74,094 
Total  111,186  74,094 

4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and balances with banks
Short-term deposit/investments
Cash shown as current assets

 3,348,116 
 5,450,751 

 11,013 

 14,098,050 
 5,124,508 

 1,750 
 8,809,880  19,224,308 

For the purposes of the cash flow state-
ment:
Cash & cash equivalents  8,809,880  19,224,308 
Cash & cash equivalents at 1 April 2008  20,924,200 

5 Trade and other payables

Accruals
Leave Pay Accrual

 1,458,770 
 376,409 

 963,617 
 867,574 

Total  1,835,179  1,831,191 

6 Provisions

Salary and related expense provision
Opening balance
Utilisation/Amounts reversed during the year
Provisions made during the year

  566,580 
 (566,580)

 - 

 274,388 
 (274,388)
 566,580 

Closing balance  -  566,580 

7 Conditional grants

Opening balance
Add:  current year receipts
Less:  Revenue recognised
Add: Interest received
Less: Interest recognised

  8,174,870 
 328,153 

 (7,390,223)
 262,397 

 (184,738)

 9,746,000 
 3,490,638 

 (5,315,249)
 431,371 

 (177,891)

Closing balance  1,190,458  8,174,870 

Total Conditional grants  1,190,458  8,174,870 
Analysis for financial reporting purposes:  1,190,458  8,174,870 
Current  portion  -  - 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

8 Finance lease liability

2010
 Minimum 

Lease 
Payment  

 Future Finance 
 Charges 

 Present value 
 of minimum 

 lease payments 
Amounts payable under finance leases
Within one year  124,639  57,361  182,000 
In the second to fifth year inclusive  199,167  54,701  253,868 
After five years  -  -  - 

 323,806  112,062  435,868 
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months  -182,000 

 253,868 

The lease terms range between 3 and 5 years and the average effective borrowing rate is 12%.  Interest rates 
are determined on inception. No arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent. 

2009
 Minimum 

Lease 
Payment  

 Future Finance 
 Charges 

 Present value 
 of minimum 

 lease payments 
Amounts payable under finance leases
Within one year  112,622  23,945  88,677 
In the second to fifth year inclusive  155,428  13,236  142,190 
After five years  - 

 268,049  37,181  230,867 
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months  -88,677 

 142,190 

The lease terms range between 3 and 5 years and the average effective borrowing rate is 12%.  Interest rates 
are determined on inception. No arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent. 

9 Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at the beginning of the year  10,493,058  11,955,730 
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year as previously stated  138,180  (1,275,480)
Correction of prior year error  -  (187,192)
Balance at the end of the year  10,631,238  10,493,058 

10 Sale of goods
Book sales  17,917 

 72,899 
 9,567 
 27,969 Qunu craft

Total  90,816  37,536 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

11 Transfers and subsidies received
National Departments  14,758,000 

 7,390,223 
 13,964,000 
 5,315,249 Project funds

Total  22,148,223  19,279,249 

12 Gifts, sponsorships and donations received  Annexure 1  8,504  8,464 

13 Other income
Sundry income  324,225  872,565 
Total  324,225  872,565 

14 Administrative expenses
Professional fees  518,246 

 97,900 
 277,746 

 59,695 
 424,885 
 148,117 

 9,109 
 43,282 

 251,938 
 472,647 
 339,855 

 28,764 
 14,921 
 12,802 

 1,162,347 
 44,472 

 592,202 
 50,883 

 245,967 
 144,186 

 4,147 
 29,291 

 375,657 
 430,079 

 62,466 
 20,731 
 10,759 
 5,772 

Entertainment
Stationery and printing
Bank charges
Cleaning 
Insurance
Internet
Licenses
Recruitment expenses
Telelphone  and postage
Training and staff development
Subscriptions
Staff welfare
Workmens compensation
Total  2,699,906  3,178,958 

15 Staff costs
Wages and salaries  4,349,586  4,887,400 
    - Basic salaries  1,997,112  3,115,918 
    - Other non-pensionable allowance  -  - 
    - Temporary staff  26,859  9,127 
Senior Management emoluments  2,325,615  1,762,355 

Defined contribution plan expense  75,229  57,524 
Social contributions (Employer’s contributions)  228,574  175,331 
    - Medical  123,972 

 52,049 
 52,552 

 89,657 
 45,387 
 40,288 

    - UIF
    - SDL
Total  4,653,389  5,120,256 

16 Audit fees  780,644  492,850 
Statutory Audit  780,644  492,850 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

17 Other operating expenses
Consultants, contractors and special services  1,564,780  316,024 
Equipment items expensed as per entity policy  21,709  65,050 
Other project expenses  41,522  1,039,610 
Maintenance, repairs and running costs  1,637,814  530,631 
   - Property and buildings  1,331,386 

 145,451 
 160,977 

 377,561 
 84,615 
 68,455 

   - Machinery and Equipment
   - Other maintenance, repairs and running costs

Depreciation  1,069,352  544,494 
Exibition cost  3,448,054  1,468,055 
Travel and subsistence  3,069,375  4,294,949 
Advertising and promotions  1,653,775  1,635,536 
Functions and catering  243,980  1,313,284 
Security  1,586,093  1,202,684 
Rentals in respect of operating leases (minimum lease payments)  46,339  46,923 
   - Plant, machinery and equipment  46,339  46,923 
Total  14,382,794  12,457,239 

18 Finance income
Interest on  

184,738 
 

177,869  - Cash and bank deposits
Total  184,738  177,869 

19 Finance costs
Interest Paid  21,361  15,517 
Total  21,361  15,517 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

20 Prior period errors 2010 2009
Line item effected in Statement of Financial Performance

 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 (104,306)
 (12,156)
 251,764 

 81,073 
 (208,697)
 (113,643)
 (203,183)

Increase in Transfers and subsidies
(Increase) / decrease in Sale of goods
Decrease in Finance income
Increase in Project expenses
Decrease in Salary cost
Decrease in administrative expenses
(Decrease)/Increase in Other operating expenditure
(Increase)/decrease in Accumulated Surplus  -  (309,146)

Line item effected in Statement of Financial Position
(Decrease) in Property, plant and equipment  - 

 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 274,452 
 100,370 

 822 
 208,697 

 (8,890)
 (239,609)

Increase/(Decrease) in Intangible assets
Increase in Bank and cash
Decrease in provisions
Increase in accruals
Increase in Conditional grants
Increase/(decrease) in net assets  -  335,843 

During the current year, it was discovered that certain operating leases had met the criteria of Finance leases as per GRAP 13. The leased 
equipment was thus capitalised, and the prior period figures were amended accordingly. On the 10th September 2009 the Museum 
Management made a motivation to the Museum Council inwhich it requested Council to approve a Leave transitional period from June 2009 
to December 2009 during which each Staff member would be allowed to take leave accumulated since employment. The museum council 
approved this arrangement in its meeting of the 19th September 2009 and this had an effect of providing a moratorium of leave forfeiture until 
the end of December 2009 after which the forfeiture provision would take effect again.The effect on the financial statements are as follows:

2010 2009

Line item effected in Statement of Financial Performance  
21,361 
 86,593 
 14,889 

 15,517 
 490,315 

 (9,493)

Increase in Finance costs
Increase in Staff Costs
(Decrease)/Increase in Other operating expenditure
(Increase)/decrease in Accumulated Surplus  122,843  496,339 

Line item effected in Statement of Financial Position
Increase in Property, plant and equipment
Increase in Provisions
Decrease in Loans and receivables
(Increase) in Finance Lease Libility

 
168,750 
 (86,593)

 (414)
 (435,868)

 236,712 
 490,315 

 11,384 
 (230,867)

Increase/(decrease) in net assets  (354,125)  507,543 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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21 Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations
 Deficit for the year  138,180  (966,334)
 Interest received  (184,738)  (177,869)
 Interest paid  21,361  - 

 Non-cash movements/working capital changes  562,993  1,298,553 
 Depreciation  1,069,352  487,356 
 Increase/(Decrease) in payables  588,476  341,830 
 Increase/(Decrease) in provisions  (1,057,746)  390,147 
 (Increase)/Decrease in receivables  -  103,571 
 (Increase)/Decrease in inventories  (37,089)  (24,351)

 Net cash flows from operating activities  537,795  154,351 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

22 Operating lease arrangements
lessee

Office Equipment
At the reporting date the entity had outstanding commitments 
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
Up to 1 year  197,368 

 216,396 
 50,347 

 115,480 
 279,078 

 - 
1 to 5 years
More than 5 years

 464,110  394,558 

23 Net cash inflows/ outflows from operating 
activities
Cash receipts from customers  22,571,768  20,301,384 
Cash payments to suppliers and employees  (22,033,973)  (20,147,033)
Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations  537,795  154,351 

Interest received  184,738  177,869 
Interest (paid)  (21,361)  - 
Net cash inflows/ outflows from operating activities  701,172  332,220 

24 Net cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of:
Property, plant and equipment  (4,242,866)  (461,563)

Net cash flows from investing activities  (4,242,866)  (460,982)

25 Net cash flows from financing activities

Increase/(decrease) in Non-Current Liabilities:
Conditional Grants  (6,984,413)  (1,571,130)
Finance Leases  111,678 

Net cash flow financing activities  (6,872,735)  (1,571,130)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

26 Reconciliation of budget surplus/deficit with the deficit in the statement of financial performance

Net surplus/deficit per the statement of financial 
performance

 138,180 

Adjusted for:
   Sale of goods - exchange transactions  (90,816)
   Transfers & Subsidies received  (7,488,223)
   Gifts, sponsorships & donations received  (8,504.00)
   Other income  135,375.00 
   Cost of sales  80,231 
   Administrative expemses  471,121.21 
   Staff costs  (3,657,644)
   Audit fees  634,044.00 
   Other operating expenses  9,949,613.00 
   Finance income  (184,738)
   Finance Costs  21,361 
Net surplus/deficit per approved budget  0 

27 Unauthorised, Irregular, Wasteful & Fruitless Expenditure
Refer to Annexure 3 for detail.

28 Senior Management Emoluments
Refer to Annexure 4 for detail.

29 Related Parties
No related party transactions took place during the 
period under review

Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Refer to Annexure 4 for details.

30 Risk Management
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including, fair value interest rate risk, 
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk) and liquidity risk. 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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Risk Management (continued)
The entity’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the entity’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by a 
central treasure department (company treasury) under policies aproved by the board of directors. Company 
treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the company’s operating 
units. The board of directors provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies 
covering specific areas, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative 
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

liquidity risk
The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages 
liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 
months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

      Less than 1    Between 1 and  Between 2 and          
At 31 March 2009   year     2 years                   5 years            Over 5 years 
Finance Lease             88,677    111,455     30,736   -
Trade & Other Payables   1,700,734     -     -                           -

      Less than 1    Between 1 and        Between 2 and                             
At 31 March 2010   year                   2 years  5 years              Over 5 years 
Finance   Lease    181,200    82,253  171,615                      -
Trade & Other Payables   963,617     -                            -                        -

Marke Risk
The entity’s activities expose it primarily to the risks of fluctuations in interest rates. 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. A sensitivity analysis shows how surplus, and / 
or net assets, would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible 
at the reporting date.

The entity’s interest rate profile consists of fixed and floating rate bank balances which exposes the entity to 
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk and can be summarised as follows:

Financial Assets
Bank deposits linked to South African prime rate.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on financial instruments exposure to interest rates at 
reporting date. For floating rate instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the instrument 
outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year.

The basis points increases or decreases, as detailed in the table below, were determined by management and 
represent management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

A positive number below indicates an increase in surplus. A negative number below indicates a decrease in 
surplus.

As the entity does not have any instruments that effect net assets directly, the disclosure only indicates the ef-
fect of the change in interest rates on surplus.

There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from one 
year to the next.

 2010  2009 
Increase (decrease) in interest rates
The estimated increase (decrease) in basis points  50  (200) 
Effect on surplus  44,049  (384,486)

30 going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis based on the assumption that funds
will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
commitments and obligations will occur in the ordinary course of business in the near future.

31 Post balance sheet events
There were no events identified after balance sheet date that require adjustment or disclosure in the financial
statements.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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32 World Cup Expenditure

2009/10

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 31 March 2010
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 12 Statement of gifts, donations and sponsorships received

31 March 2010 31 March 2009

        Name of donor  Nature of gift, donation 
or sponsorship R R

 In Cash  8,504  8,464 
Various  Donation  8,504 

 - 
 8,464 

 - Friends of the Nelson 
Mandela Musuem

 Sponsorship 

Total  8,504  8,464 

Annexure 1 Statement of Gifts, Donations and 
Sponsorships Received 31 March 2010

Annexure 2 Statement of Loans 31 March 2010

 local  Name 31 March 2010 31 March 2009
    Other loans R R

Employee loans  -  - 

Total loans  -  - 
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Annexure 3 Statement of Unauthorised, Irregular, 
Wasteful & Fruitless Expenditure 31 March 2010

31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

Unauthorised expenditure

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 

-

Reconciliation of unauthorised expenditure
 Opening balance
 Unauthorised expenditure – current year
    Unauthorised expenditure approved by Parliament/Legislature
 Transfer to receivables for recovery (not approved)
 Unauthorised expenditure awaiting authorisation

 -  - 

Analysis of Current Unauthorised expenditure

Incident disciplinary steps taken/criminal 
proceedings

None in current year

Fruitless & Wasteful Expenditure

Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure
 Opening balance

 - 
 - 

 - 

 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – current year
 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure condoned

 Transfer to receivables for recovery
 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting condonement

 -  - 
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

Analysis of Current Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Incident disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings
None None

Irregular Expenditure

Reconciliation of irregular expenditure
 Opening balance  1,879,643 

 8,665,830 
 (1,879,643)

 - 
 - 

 0 
 1,879,643 

 - 
 Irregular expenditure – current year
 Irregular expenditure condoned

 Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement
 8,665,830  1,879,643 

Analysis of Current irregular expenditure

Incident disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings
No contract for the security company to the value of R1,2m 
(prior year)
No contract for the cleaning services company to the value of 
R189 108 (prior year)
Non-compliance with supply chain management to the value of 
R421 593 (prior year)
Non-compliance with leave policy by paying out leave to the 
value of R60 265.51. (prior year)
Supply Chain Management Policy has been followed in getting 
three quotations for transactions between R30000 and R500 
000 but the point system was not followed but the businesses 
chosen are black owned and locally based. Value of transactions 
amounts to R 4 198 511. Swift Travel is the only Travel agency 
in Mthatha after Sure Travel closed Shop. The Museum did invite 
one Travel Agency based in Part Elizabeth to make presentation 
but it did not even come close to Swift Travel in terms of service 
excellence and proximity.The museum used the services of Swift 
Travel and paid an amount of R 4 467 319 during the period 
under review without inviting Tender as it was convinced that 
the portion of the payment which goes to Swift Travel,s bank 
account in the form of commission is below the tender threshold 
which proved to be R317 036 out of the total amount paid 
for the whole financial year and the rest went to the various 
Suppliers of services like Hotel Accommodation, Air tickets and 
Transport hiring companies.

A new contract was signed on 1/4/2009
A new contract was signed on 1/4/2009
A new SCM policy implemented and dedicated 
manager was appointed.
Leave policy to be amended to address in detail leave 
pay out rules.
Point system is to be strictly adhered to in the future. 
Tenders will be invited for this value of transaction in 
future.                                            
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

REvENUE
Sales  90,816 

 14,758,000 
 7,390,223 

 8,504 
 324,225 

 37,536 
 13,964,000 

 5,315,249 
 8,463 

 872,565 

Government grant
Conditional Grant conditions met
Donations received
Sundry Income

TOTAl REvENUE  22,571,767  20,197,813 

lESS: EXPENdITURE

Cost of sales  80,231  83,219 

Administrative Expenses  2,699,907  3,178,958 
Bank Charges  59,696 

 332,111 
 424,885 

 16,627 
 97,900 

 148,117 
 9,109 

 43,282 
 277,746 
 518,246 

 287 
 251,938 

 12,802 
 354,776 

 28,764 
 123,623 

 50,883 
 260,473 
 245,967 

 17,148 
 44,472 

 144,186 
 4,147 

 29,291 
 592,202 

 1,162,347 
 290 

 375,657 
 5,772 

 73,225 
 20,731 

 152,168 

Cell phones
Cleaning
Courier Charges 
Functions & Catering
Insurance
Internet
Insurance and Licences
Printing and Stationery
Professional fees
Post box rental
Recruitment expenses
Workmen’s compensation
Staff Training and welfare
Subscriptions
Telephone & Fax

Staff cost  4,653,389  5,610,571 
Casual Labour  26,859 

 4,322,727 
 52,049 
 52,552 
 75,229 

 123,972 

 9,127 
 5,368,588 

 45,387 
 40,288 
 57,524 
 89,657 

Salaries and wages
UIF
Skills development levy
Pension
Medical Aid

Audit fees (SPR)  780,644  492,850 
Statutory Audit  780,644  492,850 

Appendix 1 Detailed Statement of Financial Performance 
for the Year Ended 31 March 2010
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009
 R  R 

Other operating expenses (SPR)  14,382,794  12,457,239 
Museum Advertising and Promotion  1,653,775 

 21,881 
 1,564,780 
 1,069,352 

 898,072 
 3,500 

 3,444,554 
 243,980 

 46,339 
 2,093,462 

 119,364 
 0 

 1,615,933 
 21,709 

 1,586,093 

 1,635,536 
 10,658 

 316,023 
 544,494 

 4,207,204 
 214,990 

 1,253,065 
 1,313,284 

 46,923 
 1,039,610 

 91,552 
 (3,807)

 519,973 
 65,050 

 1,202,684 

Computer Expenses
Consulting fees 
Depreciation
Council travel and accommodation
Equipment Hire
Exhibition expenses
Museum Function & Catering
Leasing Charges
Other project expenditure
Petrol & Oil
Pft/Loss on foreign exchange
Repairs and maintenance
Replacements
Security expenses

TOTAl EXPENdITURE  22,596,965  21,822,837 

Finance income  184,738 
 (21,361)

 177,869 
 (15,517)Less: Finance cost

SURPlUS/(dEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR  138,180  (1,462,672)


